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AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd.'s management philosophy is to support customers' futures and their 

lifestyles through financial services and the effective use of credit, both in Japan and other Asian 

countries. The Company's basic policies are to put customers first, to provide financial services that have 

real relevance in people's daily lives, to earn society's trust and satisfy its expectations, and to establish a 

vibrant corporate culture. With this management philosophy and basic policies, AEON Financial Service 

Co., Ltd. has set making limitless contributions to customers through financial services as its everlasting 

(as signified by the word "AEON") mission.

A company that supports customers' futures and

their lifestyles through financial services and

the effective use of credit

Management Philosophy / Basic Policies
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1981 Jun. Nihon Credit Service Co., Ltd., established
Jul. Commenced operations relating to Jusco Card

Dec. Commenced hire purchase operations
1982 Oct. Commenced credit card cash advance operations
1984 Apr. Registered as a money lender (Director-General of the Kanto Local Finance Bureau (1) No. 00215)
1987 Oct. Opened a branch in Hong Kong, which commenced hire purchase operations. This marked the 

beginning of overseas operations in Asia
1989 Jul. Registered as a provider of installment payment services (Registration number Kan-17)
1990 Jul. AEON Credit Service (Asia) Co., Ltd., established in Hong Kong2
1992 Dec. AEON Thana Sinsap (Thailand) Plc., established in Thailand
1994 Aug. Changed the Company’s name to AEON CREDIT SERVICE Co., Ltd.

Dec. Registered the Company’s shares on the JASDAQ (over-the-counter) market
1995 Sep. Listed shares of AEON Credit Service (Asia) Co., Ltd., on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
1996 Dec. Listed the Company’s shares on the Second Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange

Dec. AEON Credit Service (M) Sdn. Bhd. (currently, AEON Credit Service (M) Berhad.), established 
in Malaysia

1998 Aug. Listed the Company’s shares on the First Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange
1999 Feb. ACS Credit Management Co., Ltd., established as a wholly owned subsidiary engaged in 

servicer operations
2000 Oct. Commenced issuance of AEON Card as an integrated card replacing a range of cards issued 

by AEON Group companies, including Jusco Card
2001 Dec. Listed shares of AEON Thana Sinsap (Thailand) Plc. on the Stock Exchange of Thailand
2003 Dec. Commenced issuance of AEON Gold Card, which is the industry’s first credit card with no 

annual fee
2006 Mar. AEON Co., Ltd. announced its entering into the banking business

May AEON Financial Project Co., Ltd., established as bank preparation company
2007 Apr. Commenced issuance of “AEON Card (with WAON)” which includes the function of e-money 

“WAON”
Oct. Aeon Financial Project Co., Ltd. changed name to AEON Bank, Ltd., and obtained banking 

business license from the Financial Services Agency. AEON Bank, Ltd. commenced banking 
operations (in-store branches opened, ATMs began operations)
AEON CREDIT SERVICE Co., Ltd. obtained license for banking agency business with AEON 
Bank, Ltd. as the assigned bank

Dec. Listed shares of AEON Credit Service (M) Berhad on the stock exchange of Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia
2009 Feb. Commenced issuance of AEON CARD SELECT, which combines the functions of a credit card, 

cash card and e-money “WAON”
2010 Mar. Began receiving applications for the AEON Select Club for people with housing loans from 

AEON Bank, Ltd.
Jul. Acquired shares of MC Short Term Small Amount Insurance Co., Ltd. (currently, AEON S.S. 

Insurance CO., LTD.), making it into a subsidiary
Oct. Established a portal website for one-stop financial service: Aeon financial service “Kurashi-no-

Money Site”
2011 Dec. AEON Community Bank, Ltd. became a subsidiary of AEON Bank, Ltd.
2012 Jan. Acquired shares of TOSHIBA HOUSING LOAN SERVICE CO., LTD. (currently AEON HOUSING 

LOAN SERVICE CO., LTD.), making it into a subsidiary
Mar. AEON Bank, Ltd. carried out absorption-type merger with AEON Community Bank, Ltd. 

2013 Apr. Through a management integration with AEON Bank, Ltd., the Company changed its 
corporate structure to a holding company (a bank holding company) and changed its name to 
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd.

May Acquired shares of TOSHIBA FINANCE CO., LTD. (currently AEON Product Finance CO., 
LTD.), making it into a subsidiary

Corporate History
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*1 The equity ratios from FY2010 – FY2012 do not represent the equity ratio stipulated in the Public Notice on Capital Adequacy Ratio.
*2 �The FY2013 equity ratio has been obtained by calculating the consolidated equity ratio based on the formula stipulated in the Criteria 

for Banks to Judge Whether Their Capital Adequacy Status Is Appropriate in Light of Their Assets, etc. Under Article 14-2 of the 
Banking Act (Financial Services Agency Public Notice No. 19 of 2006). 

Ordinary revenues (*1) Ordinary income

Net income and return on equity (ROE) Total assets and return (ordinary income) on assets (ROA)

Finance Receivables Balance (prior to securitization of receivables)Equity and equity ratio (*1)(*2)

Key Financial Data
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
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Financial Highlights
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Number of active card members

Active card members in Japan by area

Numbers of AEON Bank accounts 

Active card members in Japan by gender

Active card members in Japan by age

Deposit balances of AEON Bank, Ltd.
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■ Active card members in Japan
■ Active card members overseas
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Guangzhou*
Taiwan

Tianjin

Shenyang

Shenzhen
Hong Kong

Philippines

Lao

Vietnam

Malaysia

Thailand
Myanmar

Beijing

Cambodia

India

Indonesia

Shanghai*

Overseas Operations

Operations shown in bold are locally listed companies and those marked * are representative offices.

 HONG KONG
AEON FINANCIAL SERVICE (HONG KONG) CO., LTD.
AEON CREDIT SERVICE (ASIA) CO., LTD.
AEON INSURANCE BROKERS (HK) LIMITED

 THAILAND
AEON THANA SINSAP (THAILAND) PLC.
AEON INSURANCE SERVICE (THAILAND) CO., LTD.
ACS CAPITAL CORPORATION LTD.
ACS SERVICING (THAILAND) CO., LTD.

 MALAYSIA
AEON CREDIT SERVICE (M) BERHAD

 TAIWAN
AEON CREDIT SERVICE (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.
AEON CREDIT CARD (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.

 INDONESIA
PT.AEON CREDIT SERVICE INDONESIA

 CHINA
AEON CREDIT GUARANTEE (CHINA) CO., LTD.
AEON INFORMATION SERVICE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.
AEON MICRO FINANCE (SHENYANG) CO., LTD.
AEON MICRO FINANCE (TIANJIN) CO., LTD.
AEON MICRO FINANCE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.

 VIETNAM
ACS TRADING VIETNAM CO., LTD.

 PHILIPPINES
AEON CREDIT TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS 
(PHILIPPINES) INC.
AEON CREDIT SERVICE (PHILIPPINES) INC.

 CAMBODIA
AEON MICROFINANCE (CAMBODIA) PRIVATE 
COMPANY LIMITED

 INDIA
AEON CREDIT SERVICE INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED

 LAO
AEON LEASING SERVICE (LAO) 
COMPANY LIMITED

 MYANMAR
AEON MICROFINANCE (MYANMAR) CO., LTD.

Overseas Consolidated Subsidiaries
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AEON CARD 
SELECT

All the Functions and Benefits of 
Credit Card + Cash Card + e-money 
“WAON” in One Card!

Kurashi-no-
Money Plazas

One-Stop Financial Services in
Credit, Banking and Insurance! 

Internet-Based 
Service Websites

Meets Various Financial Needs
on the Internet

Highlights in Products and Services

ATM Network Network of Over 5,000 Nationwide 
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We strive to provide reliable, convenient and 

beneficial financial products and services that 

have real relevance in people’s daily lives.

Takamitsu Moriyama
Executive Vice President in 

charge of Banking 
Businesses

Akinori Yamashita
President and CEO

Masao Mizuno
Executive Vice President in 

charge of Credit Businesses, 
Fee Businesses and 
Overseas Businesses

Management Message
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AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) provides a variety of financial services in Japan and other Asian 

countries, based on our management philosophy to support customers’ futures and their lifestyles through the 

effective use of credit.

As a comprehensive financial group that grew from the retail sector, we have worked consistently to provide 

customers with financial products and services that will be useful in their everyday lives. Such products and services 

include the issuance of AEON CARD SELECT, which combines the functions and benefits of a cash card, credit 

card, and e-money “WAON,” as well as the AEON Select Club, which offers customers who have a housing loan 

with AEON Bank a 5% discount every day on purchases at AEON stores. As a result of these initiatives, we have 

been able to steadily expand our business operations, including adding more credit card members and growing 

the balance of bank deposits.

Meanwhile, competition among players in the financial services industry, which we belong to, has been growing 

ever more intense. In Japan, companies from other sectors have been entering the financial services field, while 

overseas, both Japanese and foreign-affiliated companies are entering the market in conjunction with the Asian 

shift in the economy. In light of these developments, in April 2013, we carried out a management integration of 

AEON Credit Service Co., Ltd. and AEON Bank, Ltd., thereby transitioning to a bank holding company.

In order to achieve additional growth, we are currently focusing on realizing four synergies: improving convenience 

in the financing businesses, strengthening marketing ability, expanding overseas businesses, and improving 

productivity and strengthening business promotion ability, and thus we are accelerating efforts to expand the 

credit businesses, the banking businesses, fee businesses, and overseas businesses.

Moreover, in addition to coping with bolstering compliance and corporate governance as a bank holding company, 

we are proactively promoting CSR activities, primarily environmental protection and social contribution activities. 

By doing so, we are working to contribute to the development of local communities as a good corporate citizen.

Going forward, we will continue to strive to be a company valued by society, with each and every employee of the 

Company acting with a high level of ambition and sincerity.

AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. will continue to strive to earn the trust of our customers and satisfy their 

expectations. We look forward to your ongoing support.
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■ Installment Sales Finance Business

At the product-specific installment business, which is a 
new business field for us, we are working to nurture the 
business to be a key revenue source with our credit 
card, banking, insurance and e-money businesses. We 
are striving to expand our business lines with a focus 
on loans for the future growth field of solar power 
generation systems, home renovations, agricultural 
equipment and others. 

Moreover, we are working to develop partner outlets 
across Japan, while at AEON stores, we are offering 
privileges and services that are linked with our retail 
operations. 

Business Segments

■ Credit Card Business

[Card Lineup]

We seek to provide convenience and benefits in our customers’ day-to-day shopping through 
our financial products and services such as credit cards, bank accounts and e-money. 

▶AEON CARD SELECT

AEON CARD SELECT is a multi-function card combining the functions and benefits of a credit card, a 

cash card and e-money “WAON” in one card. It is also possible to add a card loan function.

[Increasing Number of Card Members]

At the credit card business, we are working to increase 
the number of card members by strengthening 
member subscriptions at AEON shopping centers, 
through alliance partners and through the Internet. 
The number of active card members in Japan 
continues to increase: as of March 31, 2014, the 
number was 23,450 thousand members, an increase of 
1,210 thousand members from March 31, 2013.

Credit 
Businesses
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■ E-money Business

E-money “WAON” is a form of e-money operated by AEON Co., Ltd. It can be used not only at 
all AEON Group outlets nationwide but also at convenience stores, fast food outlets and in 
taxis. In addition, the points users accrue for every ¥200 they use can be converted into WAON 
(point charge) and used the next time the user goes shopping. 

■ Bank Agency Business

At the bank agency business, AEON CREDIT SERVICE Co., Ltd. has obtained a license for 
banking agency business and is engaged in bank agency operations for AEON Bank branches 
and other work including handling bank account openings and brokering housing loans. 

This business is also engaged in developing a joint ATM business that installs and operates 
AEON Bank ATMs, and handles bank operations including an account opening center and 
reception operations for customer inquiries.

■ �Insurance Agency Business / Short-term Small-amount Insurance Business

At the insurance agency business, we operate walk-in “AEON Insurance Shops” centered on all 
AEON Group outlets, at which we provide insurance product proposals from a fair and neutral 
standpoint.

At the short-term small-amount insurance business, in addition to “Accident Insurance G.G 
Plan” for the senior market, we are striving to provide unique insurance products by such means 
as newly offering “Pet Insurance.”

■ Internet Business

This business operates the “Kurashi-no-Money Site,” a portal website for comprehensive 
financial services offering one-stop online checking of credit card, bank, insurance and e-money 
services. On the same website, we also strive to meet a wide variety of financial needs by 
offering guidance not only on services for individual customers but also on those for affiliated 
merchants.

Fee 
Businesses
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Banking 
Businesses

Business Segments

■ In-store Branches

Our “in-store branches” are available for customers to visit while they are shopping at AEON 
shopping centers for a variety of financial consultations 
and procedures. These branches operate from 9:00 am 
to 9:00 pm in principle, and are open daily including 
weekends, public holidays and the year-end/New Year 
holidays. Customers can freely drop in for 
consultations on their way home from work or on 
holidays. The “in-store branches” are staffed by 
consultants and provide consultations that cater for a 
variety of financial needs of customers including bank 
account opening, housing loans, investment trusts and 
insurance products. 

■ Various Loan Types

AEON Bank, Ltd. handles a variety of loans to meet the diverse needs of customers, including 
housing loans, card loans, education loans, loans for solar power generation systems and loans 
for home renovations. Furthermore, customers who join the AEON Select Club for those with 
housing loans receive not only a 5% discount every day on purchases at AEON stores but also 
many other special privileges that are unavailable with other housing loans, including 
preferential interest rates on AEON Bank time deposits. 

■ Asset Management

In order to meet a wide range of customer asset management needs, we handle a total of 49(*) 
insurance products including individual pension insurance, whole life insurance and educational 
endowment insurance.

Furthermore, we handle 211(*) investment trust products, placing us in the top rank of banks in 
Japan in terms of the number of products handled. These include products based on Japanese 
Individual Savings Accounts (Japanese ISAs; commonly known as NISAs), a tax-free system for 
small investments started in January 2014.

(*)As of June 30, 2014
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Overseas 
Businesses

Since starting our first overseas business in Hong Kong in 1987, we have placed a strategic 
emphasis on business expansion in Asia, which is showing dramatic economic growth. We have 
established business operations in 12 countries and areas in Asia including Taiwan, China, 
Indonesia, the Philippines, Vietnam, Cambodia and India as well as our operations in Hong 
Kong, Thailand and Malaysia. Using the expertise we have built up in Japan, we will work to 
enhance convenience for customers in countries around Asia in providing them with financial 
services.  

■ Development Centered on Hong Kong (Hong Kong, Taiwan, China)

In Hong Kong, where we started our overseas business, we established a local subsidiary in 
1990 and listed it on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 1995. We are working to increase the 
number of credit card members by strengthening member subscription with alliance partners 
and carrying out sales promotion planning. We have been expanding our business lines and 
started carrying out installment payment business in Shenyang, Tianjin and Shenzhen in China. 
We also operate processing business in Guangzhou. 

■ Development Centered on Thailand (Thailand, Vietnam, Cambodia, Myanmar, Laos)

We established a local subsidiary in Thailand in 1992 as our second overseas office after Hong 
Kong and listed it on the Stock Exchange of Thailand in 2001, steadily expanding our business 
lines. We are currently using the expertise we have built up in our credit businesses to 
proactively develop insurance agency, leasing, and servicer businesses, while working to 
increase the number of credit card members through alliance partners, including the AEON 
outlets we operate in Thailand. Furthermore, we started carrying out installment payment 
business in Myanmar, following on from Vietnam and Cambodia. 

■ Development Centered on Malaysia (Malaysia, Indonesia, India, Philippines)

We established a local subsidiary in Malaysia in 1996 as our third overseas office in Asia, which is 
showing dramatic growth, and listed it on the stock exchange of Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia in 2007. 
While continuing to strengthen member subscription through AEON Big Malaysia and others, we 
are also expanding our business lines through joint planning implemented with alliance partners. 
In Indonesia, India and the Philippines, where we operate installment payment business, we are 
working to expand our network of affiliated merchants.
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CSR Action Policies

1.	Earning Trust
	 We are well aware that we have an important social responsibility and public mission as a comprehensive financial group, 

and we strive to earn unwavering trust from society by acting in good faith and ensuring sound business operations.

2.	Respecting Human Rights 
	 Our officers and employees all treat each other as partners in the workplace, showing mutual respect for 

individuals’ characters and individuality.

3.	Complying Fully with Laws and Regulations, etc.  
	 We aim to comply fully with all laws, regulations, and rules, and conduct fair and honest corporate activities in 

keeping with social norms. In addition, we aim to maintain a strong sense of ethics, and to sustain and enhance a 
corporate culture of obeying laws, regulations and rules.

4.	Managing Information  
	 We handle customer information and other critical information with the utmost care, and manage it rigorously to 

avoid improper use.

5.	Ensuring a Customer-Oriented Approach 
	 We always put customers first and offer reliable, high-quality financial services suited to each customer’s needs. 

Furthermore, we ensure that our actions never harm our customers’ interests in order to benefit the AEON Financial 
Service Group, and we refrain from using our dominant position to persuade customers to enter into transactions.

6.	Confronting Anti-Social Forces
	 We are committed to maintaining a resolute stance against anti-social forces that pose a threat to civil society, 

and if we encounter any transaction that we suspect is connected to money laundering or any other crime, we do 
not disregard it, but deal with it appropriately.

AEON Financial Service Policies on Compliance

Privacy Policy
1.	� AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) has established and discloses the privacy policy (the “Privacy 

Policy”) as its approach to protect personal information and properly handle such information.

2.	� The Company recognizes the importance of protecting personal information, and complies with the Act on the 
Protection of Personal Information and other relevant laws and regulations including guidelines, as well as the Company’s 
internal regulations including this Privacy Policy, and it strives to properly protect and handle personal information.

3.	� The Company acquires personal information through appropriate and lawful means, and only to the extent 
necessary to achieve the purpose of utilization.

4.	� The Company specifies the purpose of utilization of personal information, and handles such information within 
the limitations of the purpose of utilization. In cases where the purpose of utilization of specific personal 
information is limited by laws and regulations, the Company does not use such information beyond such 
limitations of the purpose of utilization. 

	� The Company’s purpose of utilization of personal information is shown in “Handling Personal Information,” etc.

Handling Personal Information (Purpose of Utilization of Personal Information)
5.	� The Company does not provide personal information to any third party, with the exception of cases where the 

person concerned has granted prior consent in that regard, or where provision of personal information is based 
on laws and regulations. 

6.	� The Company takes appropriate measures to ensure the security control of customers’ personal information in 
order to prevent loss, alteration or leakage of such information.

	� When outsourcing the handling of customers’ personal information, the Company appropriately oversees the trustee.

7.	� The Company reviews the content of this Privacy Policy as necessary, and strives to bring about continuous 
improvement such as to its systems and approaches for protecting personal information.

8.	� The Company trains and educates its officers and employees regarding the importance of protecting personal 
information to ensure that they handle customers’ personal information in an appropriate manner.

9.	� The Company responds in an appropriate and swift manner to requests by customers to disclose personal 
information it retains.

	� For details of procedures relating to disclosure, etc., please see the information shown in the section “Handling 
Personal Information,” or please contact the office shown below. 

Handling Personal Information (Procedures Relating to Disclosure, etc. of Personal Data Retained 
by the Company)
10.�	The Company responds to any opinions or requests concerning its handling of personal information in an 

appropriate and swift manner.
	 Please contact the General and Legal Affairs Division given below regarding opinions and requests.

Privacy Policy

General and Legal Affairs Division, AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd., 

Tel: +81-3-5281-2080
Business hours: 9:00 to 17:00 Japan standard time, weekdays 
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Enhancing Convenience for Customers

CSR

■ Making Use of Customer Feedback

We value opinions, requests, and other feedback received from our customers, and we take 
such feedback seriously as a means to improve our business and further upgrade our services. 
We provide customer feedback cards at bank branches and ATMs, replying individually to those 
customers we can contact. Each of our companies also collects and categorizes feedback 
received via branches, call centers, and the corporate website, and such feedback is shared, 
discussed, and studied by the AEON Financial Service Customer Satisfaction Committee, and 
used in efforts to further upgrade our services. 

■ Initiatives to Enhance Convenience

We are taking steps to enhance our services to make them more convenient and more focused 
on serving the public good so that a diverse range of customers can feel comfortable using 
them. In bank branches, for instance, we installed communication boards to enable customers 
with impaired hearing or concerns about communicating verbally to use a visual means of 
telling bank staff what transactions or procedures they want.

For customers with physical disabilities 
➡ We reduce fees for over-the-counter money transfers 

For customers with impaired eyesight 
➡ We issue account statements in braille

For customers who find it difficult to write 
➡ �We handle housing loan applications and other paperwork read or written by a proxy on 

behalf of the customer
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Supporting Our Employees

■ Respect for Diversity in Hiring and Training

We respect the diversity of our personnel and endeavor to conduct hiring and training free of 
discrimination based on nationality, ethnic origin, gender, educational background, religion, or 
physical disability.

Hiring
The three comprehensive financial service companies of the Group conduct joint hiring to offer more 
reliable, convenient financial services centered on Kurashi-no-Money Plazas and in-store branches within 
AEON shopping centers. In April 2014, we hired five non-Japanese students in order to secure personnel 
who can play an active role throughout Asia.

Training
We offer group training, on-the-job training, and assistance 
with self-development to enable each individual employee 
to enhance his or her own skills. In so doing, we aim to 
nurture global human resources who will flourish outside 
Japan, as well as professionals who command a wide range 
of skills in credit, banking, and insurance, enabling them to 
recommend financial services that meet customer needs.  
We are also actively implementing personnel exchanges 
between our domestic and overseas companies to nurture 
global human resources who will support our business 
development in Asia. During fiscal 2013 we sent 24 
employees overseas from Japan, and eight overseas 
employees came to Japan.

■ Creating Accommodating Workplaces

We are introducing a personnel management system that will enable motivated employees to 
play an active role over the long term and combine work with childbirth, childrearing, and caring 
for elderly relatives.

Promoting Diversity
We are creating a framework within which each employee’s individuality can be respected and a diverse 
range of personnel can flourish in order to reinforce our ability to provide financial products and services 
developed from the customer’s perspective. In order to actively promote full participation by women in 
particular, in 2014 we brought in a female outside director and established a new Hiring and Training 
Division to extend and enhance training focused on women’s career advancement. We are also actively 
promoting the appointment of women to management positions and we intend to raise the percentage of 
female store managers from the current 25% to 50% or more soon.

Promoting Work-Life Balance
To create better workplaces that are more accommodating toward our employees we conduct an 
annual morale survey targeting all employees, and incorporate the results of the survey into 
subsequent system revisions.
In 2013 AEON CREDIT SERVICE Co., Ltd. introduced systems enabling employees to take consecutive holidays 
and to systematically take paid leave, as well as a new system targeting a reduction in total hours worked.
In separate measures to support employees returning to work after childcare leave, we offered reduced 
working hours and extended and enhanced the provision of child-related allowances for employees with 
children younger than junior high school age.

CSR
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Communication with Shareholders and Investors 

■ System for Disclosing Information

To enable our shareholders, investors, and other stakeholders to 
deepen their understanding of the Company, we disclose key 
information related to the Company in a timely and appropriate 
manner in accordance with laws and regulations relating to financial 
instruments and the rules of the stock exchanges on which the 
Company’s stocks are listed. The information disclosure system we 
have put in place affords all our investors equal access to material 
information affecting investment decisions.

■ IR Activities

We regard IR activities as important, believing that a positive attitude toward releasing 
information helps to earn trust from society. Through our IR activities we communicate the facts 
about the Company to our shareholders and other investors impartially, accurately, promptly, 
and continuously. During fiscal 2013 we held results briefings for institutional investors, while the 
director and other personnel with responsibility for IR responded to individual inquiries.

We are also striving to make better use of the Internet to disclose information as a means of 
helping more individual shareholders to understand the Company. In addition to monthly 
operating data, the latest news and IR materials, we brought together relevant information 
including information on the Company’s business activities, the types of cards offered and their 
privileges, industry information, and the Company’s financial information in a section of the 
Company’s website specially for individual investors.

■ Shareholding Ratio by Category (as of March 31, 2014)

■ Redistribution of Profits to Shareholders

We regard the redistribution of profits to shareholders as an important policy for managing the 
business. We therefore allocate profits among shareholders appropriately, and endeavor to 
enhance the Company’s ability to compete by securing the internal reserves necessary to 
expand operations and increase productivity.

For fiscal 2013 we set an interim dividend of ¥25 per share and a year-end dividend of ¥35 per 
share for an annual dividend of ¥60 per share.

Annual Dividends per Share
FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013

Annual dividend ¥40 ¥45 ¥50 ¥60
Payout ratio 65.8% 78.5% 56.9% 57.4%

CSR

The shareholder and investor 
information home page

Number of shareholders

Individual 
shareholders 
and others
95.5%

Individual 
shareholders 
and others 
3.9%

Financial 
institutions
0.5%

Financial 
institutions 
19.6%

Other 
corporations
0.9%

Other 
corporations
47.7%

Foreign 
companies and 
individuals 
2.8%

Foreign companies 
and individuals 
27.2%

Financial instruments 
business operators 
0.3%

Financial instruments 
business operators  
1.6%

Number of shares held

13,156 
Shareholders

206,541,751 
Shares held
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Management Structure

AEON Financial Service’s Corporate Governance

■ Corporate Governance Structure

At our predecessor company, AEON CREDIT SERVICE CO., Ltd., we conducted, as its basic policy, 
due debate and review of management issues within the decision-making bodies such as the Board 
of Directors. We did this to realize basic management policy and our medium-term vision, and to 
continuously improve corporate value. We also took actions to strengthen management supervision 
and internal control functions on an ongoing basis. The purpose of these actions was to secure 
objectivity of decision-making processes and compliance in terms of overall management.

As a bank holding company, AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. aims to further strengthen the 
management control function and corporate governance structure. In order to realize this, we 
have established four committees. Each of these committees studies and makes decisions on 
certain items in each field within the scope delegated by the Board of Directors and then 
reports and provides opinions to the Board of Directors.

With a focus on maneuverability and prompt decision-making, the Board of Directors is made 
up of a small number of directors. The Board of Directors makes decisions on important matters 
related to the management of AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and its group (the “Group”) 
after deliberation in each committee and the Management Policy Committee from the 
perspectives of business efficiency and effectiveness. The Board of Directors meeting is held 
regularly once per month, and as needed on an extraordinary basis.

AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. is a company with a Board of Corporate Auditors. The Board of 
Corporate Auditors comprises four outside corporate auditors (including two independent directors/
auditors). Pursuant to the Board of Corporate Auditors Audit Criteria formulated by the Board of 
Corporate Auditors, the corporate auditors, in accordance with the audit policies and division of duties, 
attend Board of Directors meetings and other important meetings, and receive reports and explanations 
from directors and employees about the execution status of duties. Corporate auditors also read 
important decision-making documents and other materials, and audit the directors’ execution of duties 
by investigating business operations and assets at the head office as well as at key business sites. 

In addition, the Company has elected two outside directors and four outside corporate 
auditors. They were elected because we judged that they are capable of providing appropriate 
opinions with respect to the Company’s management from an objective standpoint based on 
their wealth of knowledge and experience.  

Corporate Governance Structure  (As of June 30, 2014)

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of Directors Board of Corporate Auditors/
Corporate Auditors

Accounting 
Auditor

Reporting

Reporting

Reporting

Reporting

Reporting
ReportingReporting

Cooperation

Auditing/Reporting

Accounting Audit
Monitoring/Opinions

Instructions

Election/Dismissal

Selection/Delegation of Power/Supervision

Election/Dismissal

Election/
DismissalDelegation

Instructions

Decision on 
appropriateness 
of accounting 
audit

Auditing

Committees

Subsidiaries

Management Policy Committee Representative Director(s)

Internal Audit 
Division

Compliance 
Committee

Management Planning/
Risk Management

Risk Management 
Committee

Management 
Control

Customer Satisfaction 
Committee

Credit Businesses/Fee Businesses/
Overseas Businesses

Recurrence Prevention 
Committee

Banking 
Businesses

Human Resources and 
Administration

Reporting Instructions
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■ Internal Control System

In order to develop a system to ensure that the Company properly conducts business 
operations, AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. has formulated a Basic Policy for Developing an 
Internal Control System by resolution of the Board of Directors. In addition, the Company is 
working to enhance its internal control system, including its compliance system, risk 
management system, and internal audits, to build a firm management framework.  

Also, with respect to the internal control report system in accordance with the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act, the Company works with its corporate auditors and accounting 
auditor to develop and evaluate the internal control system related to the Group’s financial 
reporting, in order to ensure the credibility of its financial reporting.  

■ Compliance System

As the guidelines for all officers and employees to make appropriate decisions and take 
appropriate actions in accordance with both social norms and corporate ethics, it was 
prescribed that all officers and employees must comply with the AEON Code of Conduct. The 
Company has formulated the AEON Financial Service Group Policies on Compliance, which 
clarify the basic stance on compliance of the Group with the Company as a bank holding 
company. In addition, the Compliance Regulations and Compliance Manual have been 
formulated to thoroughly inform all officers and employees about the laws and regulations that 
they must comply with, as well as specific points to watch out for, and how to respond should 
they discover any compliance violations. Also, the Company carries out regular and as-needed 
compliance training for officers and employees in order to address up-to-date laws and 
regulations as well as any amendments to the Company’s articles of incorporation.  

The Company has set up a Compliance Committee to develop and establish the Group’s 
compliance system. The Compliance Committee holds meetings once a month, in principle. In 
accordance with the stipulations in the Compliance Committee Regulations, the Compliance 
Committee studies and deliberates on compliance-related matters in a comprehensive and 
professional manner, and provides necessary instruction to related parties. The Committee also 
passes resolutions on matters delegated to it by the Board of Directors, and provides necessary 
reports and opinions to the Board of Directors.   

Each Group company has a contact point for consultation to ensure the promotion of compliance and 
the integrity of the compliance system. In addition, all officers and employees are informed about the 
AEON Code of Conduct “110” hotline contact point and the outside hotline contact point for 
consultation. In addition to issues involving legal violations, the contact points for consultation receive 
consultations on every matter for which finding a resolution at the workplace level is difficult, including 
issues related to daily business operations. By investigating the facts and devising measures for 
improving or resolving issues, the contact points for consultation protect the consulting individuals and 
help the Group companies to take corrective action.

The Company has formulated the Basic Policy for Handling Anti-Social Forces. This policy clearly 
informs officers and employees that relationships with anti-social forces are to be blocked, and they are 
to be resolutely excluded. The Company has also created a division charged with handling anti-social 
forces on an organizational basis. This division collects, analyzes and manages data about anti-social 
forces collected from both inside and outside the Company in an integrated fashion. 
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Management Structure

AEON Financial Service Corporate 
Governance Structure

■ Risk Management Structure

AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. promotes an integrative risk management. The Company 
evaluates the various risks it faces by risk category, and appropriately manages the risks in light 
of the Company’s corporate strength, thereby maintaining management soundness and 
contributing to achieving more certain and consistent operating results.

As a structure to promote this risk management, the Company has established a Risk 
Management Committee to make the necessary decisions about risk management within the 
scope delegated by the Board of Directors and a Risk Management Division oversee risk 
management of each Group company.

The Risk Management Committee comprehensively studies and deliberates on matters related 
to the Group’s overall management of risk, and brings up matters and makes reports on 
necessary matters to the Board of Directors meeting. The Board of Directors regularly receives 
reports on the status of risk management for monitoring purposes, and deliberates and makes 
decisions on important basic matters related to risk management.      

The Group categorizes risks that occur in the course of operations into a number of categories: 
credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, and operational risk. Risks are managed according to their 
specific characteristics.

Risk Management Structure

Board of Directors

Risk Management Division (division in charge of integrative risk management)

Risk Management Committee

Compliance Committee

Compliance Division

Credit 
risk

Integrative risk management Operational risk management

Market 
risk

Liquidity 
risk

Administrative 
risk

System 
risk

Human 
resource 

risk

Tangible 
asset 
risk

Reputation 
risk

Legal and 
compliance 

risk

Divisions in charge of risk management by field
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Credit risk management
The Group’s primary credit risk is related to credit provided to individuals, such as housing loans 

and credit cards, and therefore these risks are diversified into small lots. Credit risk associated 

with housing loans is reduced through stringent pre-screening and follow-up monitoring, as well 

as by securing loans with the associated properties.   

Market risk management
With respect to market risk management, AEON Bank, Ltd., a Group company, carries out 

market-related operations in line with the ALM Operations Policy based on the characteristics of 

the business and the market environment. Systems to appropriately control risk to prevent 

excessive risk are in place, including measuring various risks and establishing limits. The bank 

uses specific risk indicators including Value at Risk, interest rate sensitivity, and comprehensive 

gains and losses. These risk indicators are monitored and reported on a daily basis to make sure 

its market risk does not exceed allowed threshold. Furthermore, at AEON Bank, Ltd., independent 

offices are responsible for risk management in the market front, back, and middle office functions, 

thereby ensuring mutual checks and balances for business operations.

Liquidity risk management
The system to manage liquidity risk involving systems according to the actual cash flow situation 

at each Group company is in place. Risk is managed with an emphasis on securing liquidity, while 

also taking the efficiency of funds operations into consideration.

Operational risk management
The Group classifies operational risks into six categories: administrative risk, system risk, human resource 

risk, tangible asset risk, reputation risk, and legal and compliance risk. Divisions responsible for each risk 

management manage risks from its position of expertise, while the Risk Management Division identifies 

and manages operational risk on a comprehensive level. Given its importance, a separate system, 

including the Compliance Committee, is in place to manage legal and compliance risk.

■ Internal Audits

Based on the recognition that building an internal audit system is critical for developing an appropriate 
risk management structure, the Company has formulated an Internal Audit Basic Policy for the Group, 
which aims to ensure the effectiveness of internal audits. The Internal Audit Division of the Company 
conducts internal audits of each division of the Company as well as supervises the Group’s internal 
audit function. Specifically, the Division verifies the appropriateness and effectiveness of each Group 
company’s internal management and internal audit structure by monitoring the status of internal 
audits, and conducting direct audits as necessary. The Division provides necessary opinions and 
guidance based on the results of these reviews. In addition, from the standpoint of ensuring the 
efficiency and effectiveness of audits, the Internal Audit Division exchanges opinions and information 
with the corporate auditors and accounting auditor regularly as well as on an as-needed basis. 
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Five-Year Summary
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. (formerly, AEON Credit Service Co., Ltd.) and Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2014 and Years Ended March 31, 2013 through 2010

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars(*1)

2014(*2) 2014(*2)

For the Year:
Total income ¥ 286,181 $ 2,780,618
Total expenses 246,384 2,393,935
Income before income 
taxes and minority 
interests 39,797 386,683

Net income 20,743 201,547
Yen U.S. Dollars(*1)

Per Share Data:
Net assets ¥ 1,316.00 $ 12.79
Basic net income 104.62 1.02
Diluted net income 99.49 0.97

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars(*1)

At Year-End:
Loans and bills 
discounted—net of 
allowance for possible 
credit losses ¥ 1,248,815 $ 12,133,847

Installment sales 
receivables—net of 
allowance for possible 
credit losses 937,759 9,111,531

Net property and 
equipment 31,186 303,008

Total assets 3,163,117 30,733,749
Total liabilities 2,855,825 27,748,015
Equity 307,292 2,985,734

Percentage
Ratios:

Equity ratio 8.6%
Return on assets 0.7
Return on equity 8.2

Millions of Yen
2013(*5) 2012 2011 2010

For the Year:
Total operating revenues(*3) ¥ 205,972 ¥ 169,853 ¥ 169,191 ¥ 164,449
Total operating expenses(*3) 172,892 145,572 148,473 143,889
Income before income 
taxes and minority 
interests 30,492 17,907 20,936 4,698

Net income 13,616 8,988 9,541 198
Yen

Per Share Data:
Net assets ¥ 1,235.28 ¥ 1,012.52 ¥ 1,015.17 ¥ 994.42
Basic net income 88.12 57.30 60.83 1.26
Diluted net income(*4) 78.25 57.30 1.26

Millions of Yen
At Year-End:

Finance receivables—net of 
allowance for possible 
credit losses ¥ 891,556 ¥ 640,992 ¥ 625,362 ¥ 671,493

Net property and equipment 20,061 13,854 12,849 9,929
Total assets 2,534,209 907,659 901,579 866,365
Total liabilities 2,275,337 725,806 721,379 689,647
Equity 258,872 181,853 180,200 176,718

Percentage
Ratios:

Equity ratio 9.1% 17.5% 17.7% 18.0%
Return on assets 0.8 1.0 1.1 0.0
Return on equity 7.0 5.7 6.1 0.1
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(*1) The translation of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and 
has been made at the rate of ¥102.92 to U.S.$1, the approximate rate of exchange on March 31, 2014. Such translation should not be 
construed as a representation that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

(*2) On April 1, 2013, AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) became a bank holding company. Accordingly, the Company has 
prepared the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 in accordance with the Ordinance for the 
Enforcement of the Banking Act (Ordinance of the Ministry of Finance No. 10 of 1982) which prescribes classifications of assets and 
liabilities and revenues and expenses for banking institutions.

(*3) Previously, processing service fee income and expense were recorded at the gross amount. However, effective from the fiscal year 
ended February 20, 2011, the amount of processing service fee income reflects the net amount of the relevant service fees paid to the 
e-money issuers through the e-money settlement service of the Company. As a result, total operating revenues and total operating 
expenses for the year ended February 20, 2010 are retroactively restated.

(*4) Diluted net income per share for the year ended February 20, 2011 is not disclosed as no potential dilution exists.
(*5) The consolidated amounts for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 include the results of AEON Bank, Ltd. and its subsidiary as AEON 

Bank, Ltd. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company through the share exchange as of January 1, 2013. In addition, the 
consolidated amounts for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 cover a period of 13 months and 11 days from February 21, 2012 
through March 31, 2013, due to the change in the Company’s fiscal year.
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Financial Review
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2014

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Millions of Yen

2014
Consolidated gross profits(*):

Net interest income ¥ 87,927
Net fees and commissions 125,522
Net other operating income 15,769

Total Consolidated gross profits 229,218
General and administrative expenses (169,569)
Provision for possible credit losses and

write-off of bad debts (31,484)
Net other income 11,632
Income before income taxes and minority interest 39,797
Income taxes:

Current (13,102)
Deferred 1,190

Total income taxes (11,912)
Net income before minority

interests 27,885
Minority interests in net income (7,142)

Net income ¥ 20,743
(*) Consolidated gross profits = (Interest income – Interest expenses) + (Fees and commissions (income) – Fees and commissions 

(expenses) ) + (Other operating income – Other operating expenses)

Consolidated Financial Summary

To further grow as a comprehensive financial group with retail business at its core, the Company has become a 
bank holding company in April 2013, aiming to achieve four strategic synergies as key measures: 
“improvement of convenience of financing services,” “enhancement of marketing capacity,” “expansion of 
overseas business,” and “improvement of productivity and strengthening of sales capability.” The Company 
has promoted fee business such as e-money business in addition to credit card and banking businesses and 
expanded its operation in Asia.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company has reinforced cardholder solicitation at stores of alliance 
partners and through the Internet. Also, the Company expanded its marketing network through establishing 
“Kurashi no Money Plaza,” a one-stop shop to provide various financial products and services, and enhancing 
installation of ATMs. The Company has worked on enhancing operational efficiency through streamlining the 
overlapping administrative and headquarters functions operating within the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”). 

In addition, the Company acquired AEON Product Finance Co., Ltd. (former Toshiba Finance Corporation), 
which is engaged in installment sales business, as a consolidated subsidiary in order to nurture it as a key 
component of earnings alongside credit cards, banking, insurance and e-money businesses, and increased the 
transaction volume of loans for home renovation and solar energy systems by leveraging on the Group’s sales 
network and the sales capabilities of AEON Product Finance Co., Ltd.

In the overseas business, the Company has expanded its operation centered around its three listed 
companies in Hong Kong, Thailand, and Malaysia and launched hire purchase business in Shenzhen, China and 
Myanmar. 

As a result of the above, the consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2014 
were as follows: (a) income before income taxes and minority interest increased by 30.5% to ¥39,797 million, 
and (b) net income increased by 52.3% to ¥20,743 million, compared to the previous fiscal year.

In response to inappropriate accounting treatment discovered at the Company’s subsidiary in Taiwan, the 
Company has developed five measures to further strengthen governance and compliance systems as a bank 
holding company: “generating corporate culture with emphasis on compliance,” “strengthening governance of 
subsidiaries,” “review of accounting system,” “review of human resources/organizational structure,” and 
“reinforcement of system structure.” 

During the current fiscal year, in order to strengthen management oversight, the Company reinforced 
management structures in overseas subsidiaries in each area by newly establishing the Management Audit 
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Department and Business Management Department and deploying the Heads of the Business Management 
Department to its overseas subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Thailand, and Malaysia. 

The Company has changed the presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2014 to comply with the requirements of the Banking Act and the Ordinance of the Enforcement of 
the Banking Act upon becoming a bank holding company as at April 1, 2013. In addition, the Company has 
changed its fiscal year-end from February 21 to March 31 in 2013.

The comparison of the consolidated financial results with the previous fiscal year in the preceding 
paragraph represents a comparison between the results for the year from April 1, 2013 to March 31, 2014 and 
those for the fiscal year from February 21, 2012 to March 31, 2013.

Loans and Bills Discounted and Installment Sales Receivables
Millions of Yen

2014
Loans and bills discounted ¥ 1,276,741 
Allowance for possible credit losses (27,926)

Total loans and bills discounted ¥ 1,248,815 

Millions of Yen
2014

Installment sales receivables:
Credit card purchase contracts ¥ 748,828 
Hire purchase contracts 208,576 

Subtotal 957,404 
Allowance for possible credit losses (19,645)

Total installment sales receivables ¥ 937,759 

Millions of Yen
2013

Loans and bills discounted in banking business ¥ 706,845
Allowance for possible credit losses (3,959)
Total loans and bills discounted in banking business ¥ 702,886

Millions of Yen
2013

Installment sales receivables:
Credit card purchase contracts ¥ 455,713
Hire purchase contracts 51,602

Subtotal 507,315
Operating loan receivables 421,196
Allowance for possible credit losses (36,955)

Total finance receivables ¥ 891,556

Cash flows

For the year ended March 31, 2014, net cash used in operating activities amounted to ¥137,497 million, net cash 
provided by investing activities amounted to ¥15,984 million, and net cash provided by financing activities amounted 
to ¥30,004 million. As a result of the above, the balance of cash and cash equivalents as at March 31, 2014 decreased 
by ¥91,304 million to ¥408,171 million compared to the end of the previous fiscal year.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT
Total assets and ordinary income by reportable segment

Millions of Yen
2014

Total Assets:
Credit ¥ 1,347,951
Fee Business 129,771
Banking 1,417,748
Overseas 441,444
Reconciliations (173,797)

Total assets ¥ 3,163,117

Ordinary income:
Credit ¥ 131,100
Fee Business 36,653
Banking 41,233
Overseas 91,554
Reconciliations (14,470)

Total ordinary income ¥ 286,070

Millions of Yen
2013

Total Assets:
Credit ¥ 766,072
Fee Business 75,423
Banking 1,343,687
Overseas 323,108
Reconciliations 25,919

Total assets ¥ 2,534,209

Operating Revenues:
Credit ¥ 111,729
Fee Business 26,926
Banking 9,539
Overseas 62,035
Reconciliations (4,257)

Total operating revenues ¥ 205,972
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
March 31, 2014

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 16) ¥ 408,171 $ 3,965,901
Deposits with banks (Note 16) 8,492 82,508
Monetary claims bought (Notes 3 and 16) 12,119 117,757
Securities (Notes 3, 7, and 16) 173,379 1,684,605

1,248,815 12,133,847

937,759 9,111,531

Other assets (Notes 7 and 22) 80,292 780,142
Property and equipment (Note 5) 31,186 303,008
Intangible assets (Note 6) 67,723 658,021
Deferred tax assets (Note 13) 18,759 182,265
Customers' liabilities for acceptances and guarantees 176,422 1,714,164

Total assets ¥ 3,163,117 $ 30,733,749

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities:

Deposits (Note 16) ¥ 1,717,769 $ 16,690,338
Accounts payable (Note 16) 227,264 2,208,167
Call money (Note 7) 4,900 47,610
Borrowed money (Notes 7, 8, and 16) 515,228 5,006,098
Bonds (Notes 8 and 16) 101,608 987,256
Convertible bonds (Notes 8, 10, and 16) 2,830 27,497
Other liabilities (Notes 8 and 9) 93,884 912,206
Allowance for point program 11,013 107,005
Allowance for loss on refund of interest received 3,086 29,984
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) 1,821 17,691
Acceptances and guarantees 176,422 1,714,163

Total liabilities 2,855,825 27,748,015
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 15, 17, and 18)
Equity (Notes 10, 11, and 24):

29,052 282,273

Capital surplus 104,860 1,018,852
Stock acquisition rights―365 rights in 2014 55 537
Retained earnings 136,271 1,324,044
Treasury stock―at cost, 112,505 shares in 2014 (146) (1,417)
Accumulated other comprehensive income: 
    Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (Note 3) 4,027 39,128
    Deferred loss on derivatives under hedge accounting (2,327) (22,606)
    Foreign currency translation adjustments 295 2,862
    Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefit (371) (3,607)

Total 271,716 2,640,066
Minority interests 35,576 345,668

Total equity 307,292 2,985,734
Total liabilities and equity ¥ 3,163,117 $ 30,733,749

Loans and bills discounted―net of allowance for possible credit losses
    (Notes 4, 7, 16, 18, and 22)
Installment sales receivables―net of allowance for possible credit losses
    (Notes 4, 7, and 16)

Common stock―authorized, 540,000,000 shares;
                           issued, 206,541,751 shares in 2014

Millions of Yen
2014 2014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 16) ¥ 499,475
Call loans (Note 16) 10,000

891,556

702,886

Securities in banking business (Notes 3, 7, and 16) 205,081
Deferred tax assets (Note 13) 15,320
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 100,333

Total current assets 2,424,651
Property and equipment:

Land 737
Structures 6,555
Vehicles 6,105
Equipment 32,531
Construction in progress 17

Total 45,945
Accumulated depreciation (25,884)

Net property and equipment 20,061
Investments and other assets:

Investment securities (Notes 3 and 16) 15,658
Investments in associated companies (Note 16) 207
Software 22,773
Deferred tax assets (Note 13) 1,403
Guarantee money deposits (Note 7) 3,815
Deferred charges 122
Long-term prepaid expenses 5,039
Goodwill 28,885
Other assets (Notes 9 and 22) 11,595

Total investments and other assets 89,497
Total ¥ 2,534,209

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable (Notes 16 and 22) ¥ 207,650
Deposits in banking business (Note 16) 1,212,051
Short-term borrowings (Note 16) 306,739
Commercial paper 5,443
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 7, 8, and 16) 131,014
Accrued expenses 15,924
Allowance for point program 8,696
Deferred revenue 2,831
Accrued income taxes 3,291
Other current liabilities 12,092

Total current liabilities 1,905,731
Long-term liabilities:

Long-term debt (Notes 7, 8, and 16) 355,860
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) 2,696
Allowance for loss on refund of interest received 3,722
Other liabilities (Note 9) 7,328

Total long-term liabilities 369,606
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 15, 17, and 18)
Equity (Notes 10 and 11)

15,467

Capital surplus 91,275
Stock acquisition rights―245 rights in 2013 23
Retained earnings 125,320

(143)
Accumulated other comprehensive income: 
    Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (Note 3) 2,717
    Deferred loss on derivatives under hedge accounting (1,705)
    Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,631)

Total 231,323
Minority interests 27,549

Total equity 258,872
Total ¥ 2,534,209

Treasury stock―at cost, 111,422 shares in 2013

Finance receivables-net of allowance for possible credit losses (Notes 7 and 16)

Common stock―authorized, 540,000,000 shares;
                           issued, 187,357,208 shares in 2013

2013

Loans and bills discounted in banking business-net of allowance for possible
    credit losses (Notes 16, 18, and 22)

Millions of Yen

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Income
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2014

Income:
Interest income:

Interest on loans and bills discounted ¥ 104,863 $
Interest and dividends on securities 1,953
Interest on call loans 7
Interest on due from banks and deposits 400
Other interest income 229

Total interest income 107,452
Fees and commissions (Notes 4 and 22) 145,782
Other operating income 16,797
Other income (Note 12) 16,150

Total income 286,181
Expenses:

Interest expenses:
Interest on deposits (5,184)
Interest on call money (3)
Interest on borrowed money (12,647)
Other interest expenses (1,691)

Total interest expenses (19,525)
Fees and commissions (20,260)
Other operating expenses (1,028)
General and administrative expenses (Notes 9 and 15) (169,569)
Provision for possible credit losses and write-off of bad debts (31,484)
Management integration expenses (1,195)
Other expenses (3,323)

Total expenses (246,384)
Income before income taxes and minority interests 39,797

Income taxes (Note 13):
Current (13,102)
Deferred 1,190

Total income taxes (11,912)
Net income before minority interests 27,885

Minority interests in net income (7,142)
Net income ¥ 20,743 $

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK (Note 21):
Basic net income ¥ 104.62 $
Diluted net income 99.49
Cash dividends applicable to the year 60.00

Yen U.S. Dollars
1.02
0.97

270,942
(69,395)

0.58

11,561
(115,741)

386,683

(127,302)

201,547

1,018,883
18,981

70
3,884
2,221

1,044,039

(196,852)
(9,993)

(1,647,577)
(305,912)

1,416,462
163,204
156,913

(50,367)
(28)

(122,887)

(2,393,935)

(11,609)
(32,283)

2,780,618

2014 2014

(16,427)
(189,709)

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Operating revenues (Note 22):
Credit card purchase contracts ¥
Hire purchase contracts
Loan contracts
Interest income in banking business:

Interest on loans and bills discounted in banking business
Interest and dividends on securities in banking business
Interest on call loans

Total interest income in banking business
Processing service fees
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:

Financial costs
Interest expenses on deposits in banking business
Provision for possible credit losses and write-off of bad debts
Other operating expenses (Notes 9 and 15)

Total operating expenses
Operating income

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Loss resulting from step acquisitions
Management integration expenses
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses), net

Total nonoperating expenses
Income before income taxes and minority interests

Income taxes (Note 13):
Current
Deferred

Total income taxes
Net income before minority interests

Minority interests in net income
Net income ¥

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK (Note 21):
Basic net income ¥ 88.12
Diluted net income 78.25
Cash dividends applicable to the year 50.00

(23,577)
(134,660)

205,972

(13,943)
(712)

4,751
1

1,368
3,382

(172,892)
33,080

8,689
24,619

30,492

(5,215)

Yen

19,070
(5,454)
13,616

(6,207)
(11,422)

175
(2,588)

(1,752)
(1,011)

8,418
72,507

Millions of Yen
2013

86,988

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2014

Net income before minority interests ¥ $
Other comprehensive income (Note 19): 

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
Deferred loss on derivatives under hedge accounting
Foreign currency transaction adjustments

Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income: ¥ $
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent ¥ $
Minority interests

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)
2014 2014
27,885 270,942

1,213 11,782
(1,138) (11,056)
3,536 34,357
3,611 35,083

31,496 306,025

23,357 226,945
8,139 79,080

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Net income before minority interests ¥
Other comprehensive income (Note 19): 

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
Deferred loss on derivatives under hedge accounting
Foreign currency transaction adjustments

Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income: ¥
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent ¥
Minority interests

Millions of Yen
2013
19,070

1,565
(250)

30,884

10,499

9,795

11,814

21,089

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2014

Thousands

Outstanding
Number of
Shares of
Common

Stock

Balance,
    April 1, 2013

187,246 ¥ 15,467 ¥ 91,275 ¥ 23 ¥ 125,320 ¥ (143) ¥ 2,717 ¥ (1,705) ¥ (1,631) ¥ 231,323 ¥ 27,549 ¥ 258,872

Net income 20,743 20,743 20,743

Cash dividends, ¥50
    per share

(9,792) (9,792) (9,792)

Conversion of
    convertible bonds

19,184 13,585 13,585 27,170 27,170

Purchase of treasury
    stock

(1) (3) (3) (3)

Net change in the year 32 1,310 (622) 1,926 ¥ (371) 2,275 8,027 10,302
Balance,
    March 31, 2014 206,429 ¥ 29,052 ¥ 104,860 ¥ 55 ¥ 136,271 ¥ (146) ¥ 4,027 ¥ (2,327) ¥ 295 ¥ (371) ¥ 271,716 ¥ 35,576 ¥ 307,292

Thousands

Outstanding
Number of
Shares of
Common

Stock

Balance,
    April 1, 2013

187,246 $ 150,277 $ 886,856 $ 220 $ 1,217,647 $ (1,386) $ 26,404 $ (16,564) $ (15,853) $ 2,247,601 $ 267,677 $ 2,515,278

Net income 201,547 201,547 201,547

Cash dividends, $0.49
    per share

(95,150) (95,150) (95,150)

Conversion of
    convertible bonds

19,184 131,996 131,996 263,992 263,992

Purchase of treasury
    stock

(1) (31) (31) (31)

Net change in the year 317 12,724 (6,042) 18,715 $ (3,607) 22,107 77,991 100,098
Balance,
    March 31, 2014 206,429 $ 282,273 $ 1,018,852 $ 537 $ 1,324,044 $ (1,417) $ 39,128 $ (22,606) $ 2,862 $ (3,607) $ 2,640,066 $ 345,668 $ 2,985,734

Millions of Yen

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

Total
Minority
Interests

Total
Equity

Total Minority
Interests

Total
Equity

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Accumulated
adjustments

for
retirement

benefit

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated
adjustments

for
retirement

benefit

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized
Gain on

Available-
for-sale

Securities

Deferred
Loss on

Derivatives
under
Hedge

Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Transaction
Adjust-
ments

Unrealized
Gain on

Available-
for-sale

Securities

Deferred
Loss on

Derivatives
under
Hedge

Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Transaction
Adjust-
ments

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Thousands

Outstanding
Number of
Shares of
Common

Stock

Balance,
    February 21, 2012

156,853 ¥ 15,467 ¥ 17,047 ¥ 13 ¥ 134,582 ¥ (188) ¥ 1,183 ¥ (1,563) ¥ (7,712) ¥ 158,829 ¥ 23,024 ¥ 181,853

Net income 13,616 13,616 13,616

Cash dividends, ¥50
    per share

(7,749) (7,749) (7,749)

Purchase of treasury
    stock

(12,270) (15,001) (15,001) (15,001)

Disposal of treasury
    stock

3 (1) 4 3 3

Retirement of treasury
    stock

(15,042) 15,042

Increase by share
    exchanges

42,660 74,228 74,228 74,228

Change of scope of
    equity method

(86) (86) (86)

Net change in the year 10 1,534 (142) 6,081 7,483 4,525 12,008
Balance,
    March 31, 2013 187,246 ¥ 15,467 ¥ 91,275 ¥ 23 ¥ 125,320 ¥ (143) ¥ 2,717 ¥ (1,705) ¥ (1,631) ¥ 231,323 ¥ 27,549 ¥ 258,872

Capital
Surplus

Retained
Earnings

Unrealized
Gain on

Available-
for-sale

Securities

Treasury
Stock

Total
Equity

Millions of Yen

Total Minority
Interests

Common
Stock

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Deferred
Loss on

Derivatives
under
Hedge

Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Transaction
Adjust-
ments

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2014

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 39,797 $ 386,683
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 12,734 123,728
Allowance for possible credit losses (14) (139)
Allowance for point program 2,317 22,512
Decrease in allowance for loss on refund of interest received (636) (6,174)
Interest income (107,452) (1,044,039)
Interest expenses 19,525 189,709
Net increase in loans and bills discounted (138,201) (1,342,799)
Net increase in installment sales receivables (342,366) (3,326,529)
Net increase in deposits 505,718 4,913,704
Net increase in accounts payable 14,414 140,050
Net decrease in borrowed money (213,088) (2,070,422)
Net decrease in deposits with banks 9,688 94,127
Net increase in call loans and others (18,730) (181,981)
Net increase in call money 4,900 47,610
Net decrease in commercial paper (5,634) (54,742)
Interest income received 104,438 1,014,746
Interest expenses paid (18,072) (175,591)
Other 890 8,646

Subtotal (129,772) (1,260,901)
Income taxes―paid (7,790) (75,688)
Income taxes―refund 65 626

Net cash used in operating activities (137,497) (1,335,963)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of securities (80,923) (786,272)
Proceeds from sales of securities 74,725 726,050
Proceeds from redemption of securities 45,210 439,275
Purchases of property and equipment (9,017) (87,615)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 784 7,614
Purchases of intangible assets (11,861) (115,242)
Cash paid in conjunction with the purchase of consolidated subsidiary (Note 14) (2,934) (28,503)

Net cash provided by investing activities 15,984 155,307
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Issuance of subordinated bonds 39,769 386,407
Financial costs paid for financing activities (109) (1,057)
Dividends paid to the Company's shareholders (9,792) (95,150)
Proceeds from stock issuance to minority shareholders 3,018 29,327
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (2,879) (27,970)
Purchase of treasury stock (3) (31)

Net cash provided by financing activities 30,004 291,526

205 1,991

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (91,304) (887,139)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 499,475 4,853,040
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR ¥ 408,171 $ 3,965,901

MAJOR NONCASH TRANSACTIONS
Conversion of convertible bonds ¥ (27,170) $ (263,992)

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)
2014 2014

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS ON CASH
    AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Millions of Yen

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 30,492
Adjustments for:

Income taxes—paid (4,435)
Income taxes—refund 1,989
Depreciation and amortization 9,950
Provision for possible credit losses 20,513

Changes in assets and liabilities：
Increase in finance receivables (66,500)
Increase in loans and bills discounted in banking business (67,423)
Decrease in other assets 27,017
Increase in accounts payable 28,504
Increase in deposits in banking business 77,516
Decrease in other current liabilities (15,903)
Decrease in allowance for loss on refund of interest received (5,529)
Other (8,913)

Net cash provided by operating activities 27,278
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Increase in time deposits—net (3,241)
Purchases of securities in banking business (35,197)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of securities in banking business 78,918
Purchases of property and equipment (5,525)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 786
Purchases of software (8,595)
Purchases of investment securities (86)
Cash paid in conjunction with the purchase of consolidated subsidiary (328)
Other (1,906)

Net cash provided by investing activities 24,826
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Increase in short-term borrowings—net 269,555
Increase in commercial paper—net 3,873
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 29,919
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 80,384
Repayments of long-term debt (139,325)
Increase in treasury stock—net (15,017)
Proceeds from issuance of subsidiaries' stock to minority shareholders 177
Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders (7,749)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (1,857)

Net cash provided by financing activities 219,960

2,672

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 274,736
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 19,630

205,109

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR ¥ 499,475

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RESULTING FROM
    SHARE EXCHANGE (Note 14)

2013

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS ON CASH
    AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Millions of Yen

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2014

1. BASIS OF PRESENTING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth 
in the Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and its related accounting regulations, and in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects 
as to the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

The Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 in 
accordance with the Ordinance for the Enforcement of the Banking Act (Ordinance of the Ministry of Finance No. 
10 of 1982) (hereafter the “Act”), which prescribes classifications of assets and liabilities and revenues and 
expenses for banking institutions. However, the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2013 are not reclassified. This is because it is impracticable to collect prior year information of the Group 
required to conform to the Act.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been 
made to the consolidated financial statements issued domestically in order to present them in a form which is more 
familiar to readers outside Japan.

The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen, the currency of the country in which the 
Company is incorporated and operates. The translation of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is 
included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and has been made at the rate of ¥102.92 to $1, the 
approximate rate of exchange at March 31, 2014. Such translation should not be construed as a representation that 
the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2014 include the accounts of the 
Company and its 35 subsidiaries and two companies accounted for under the equity method.

Under the control or influence concept, those companies in which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to 
exercise control over operations are fully consolidated and those companies over which the Group has the ability to 
exercise significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.

The difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary 
at the date of acquisition is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill recognized by the Company or its consolidated 
domestic subsidiaries is amortized over a period not exceeding 20 years (estimated effective period). Insignificant 
goodwill and negative goodwill are recognized in profit or loss in the period the business combinations occurred.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All material 
unrealized profits included in assets resulting from transactions within the Group have been eliminated.

(b) Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements—In May 2006, the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (the “ASBJ”) issued ASBJ Practical Issues 
Task Force (PITF) No. 18, “Practical Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign
Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial Statements.” PITF No. 18 prescribes that (ⅰ) the accounting policies 
and procedures applied to a parent company and its subsidiaries for similar transactions and events under similar 
circumstances should, in principle, be unified for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements; (ⅱ)
financial statements prepared by foreign subsidiaries in accordance with either IFRS or U.S. GAAP tentatively may 
be used for the consolidation process; (ⅲ) however, the following items should be adjusted in the consolidation 
process so that net income is accounted for in accordance with Japanese GAAP, unless they are not material: 1) 
amortization of goodwill; 2) scheduled amortization of actuarial gain or loss of pensions that has been directly 
recorded in equity; 3) expensing capitalized research and development costs; 4) cancellation of fair value model of 
accounting for property, plant, and equipment and investment properties, and incorporation of cost model of 
accounting; and 5) exclusion of minority interests from net income, if contained. PITF No. 18 was effective for 
fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2008.

(c) Business Combination—In December 2008, the ASBJ issued a revised accounting standard for business 
combinations, ASBJ Statement No. 21, “Accounting Standard for Business Combinations.”

Under the revised standard, the acquirer recognizes a gain on bargain purchase (negative goodwill) in profit or 
loss immediately on the acquisition date after reassessing and confirming that all of the assets acquired and all of 
the liabilities assumed have been identified after a review of the procedures used in the purchase price allocation, 
whereas the previous accounting standard provided for a bargain purchase gain to be systematically amortized over 
a period not exceeding 20 years. This standard was applicable to business combinations undertaken on or after April 
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1, 2010.
The Company resolved at the meeting of its Board of Directors held on April 11, 2013 to acquire shares of 

Toshiba Finance Corporation (currently, AEON Product Finance Co., Ltd.). As at the same date, the Company 
concluded the share assignment agreement with Toshiba Corporation and acquired the shares on May 16, 2013. As 
a result, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Toshiba Finance Corporation on May 
16, 2013 and accounted for it by the purchase method of accounting. The related goodwill is systematically 
amortized over 10 years (see Note 20).

(d) Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are short-term investments that are readily convertible into cash and that 
are not exposed to significant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents of the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries, excluding the domestic subsidiary that operates banking business (hereafter “the domestic banking 
subsidiary”), include time deposits, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, and bond funds, all of which mature 
or become due within three months of the date of acquisition. Cash equivalent of the domestic banking subsidiary 
include due from the Bank of Japan.

(e) Installment Sales Receivables—Installment sales receivables that the Group has the intent and ability to hold 
for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances 
reduced by any write-off or valuation allowance.

(f) Allowance for Possible Credit Losses—The allowance for possible credit losses is stated in accordance with 
the internally developed standards for write-offs and provisions. The Group classifies its obligors into five 
categories for self-assessment purposes, namely, “normal,” “in need of caution,” “possible bankruptcy,” 
“substantial bankruptcy,” and “legal bankruptcy.” For credits to obligors classified as normal or in need of caution, 
the allowance for possible credit losses is provided based on the bad debt ratio derived from credit loss experience 
over a past certain period. For credits classified as possible bankruptcy, the allowance for possible credit losses is 
provided only for the required amount of the following: credit amount, less the expected amount recoverable 
through the disposal of collateral or execution of guarantee. For credits classified as substantial bankruptcy or legal 
bankruptcy, the allowance for possible credit losses is provided for the full amounts of such credits, deducting the 
expected amount recoverable through the disposal of collateral or execution of guarantee.

All claims are assessed initially by the operational departments based on the internal standards for 
self-assessment of asset quality. The Internal Audit Department, which is independent from the operational 
departments, reviews the results of the self-assessments.

The allowance for possible credit losses of certain consolidated subsidiaries is provided in amounts considered 
to be appropriate in accordance with their internal standards developed based on the past credit loss experience and 
evaluation of potential losses in normal receivables and doubtful receivables.

(g) Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property and equipment 
is computed under the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful 
lives is principally from two to 20 years.

(h) Securities—Securities are classified and accounted for, depending on management’s intent, as follows: 
available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, 
reported in a separate component of equity. Available-for-sale securities whose fair values are deemed to be 
difficult to determine are stated at cost determined by the moving-average method. Securities other than those 
classified as trading purpose (excluding securities whose fair values are deemed to be difficult to determine) are 
considered as impaired if the fair values of the securities decreases materially below the acquisition cost and such 
decline is not considered to be recoverable. The securities are recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance 
sheet and the amount of write-down is accounted for as loss on revaluation of the securities for the fiscal year.

(i) Software (excluding lease assets)—Software is carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization of 
software of the Group is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimate useful lives within five years.

(j) Stock Issuance Costs—Stock issuance costs as at March 31, 2014, which have been deferred and included in 
other assets, were ¥85 million ($823 thousand). These costs are amortized by the straight-line method over a period 
of three years.

(k) Bond Issuance Costs—Bond issuance costs as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, which have been deferred and 
included in other assets, were ¥398 million ($3,865 thousand) and ¥122 million, respectively. These costs are 
amortized by the interest method through the maturity of the bonds.

(l) Allowance for Point Program—The allowance for point program is stated at the amount considered to be 
appropriate based on the Group’s past redemption experience.
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(m) Allowance for Loss on Refund of Interest Received—The allowance for loss on refund of interest received 
(the amount of interest that exceeds the ceiling rate imposed by the Interest Rate Restriction Law) is provided by 
certain domestic subsidiaries of the Group and is stated at the amount considered to be appropriate based on the 
Group’s past refund experience. In October 2006, “Application of auditing for provision of allowance for loss for 
reclaimed refund of interest in the accounting of consumer finance companies” of Industry Audit Practice 
Committee Report No. 37 by the Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants was issued and was adopted at 
the beginning of the fiscal year ended February 20, 2007.

(n) Retirement Benefit and Pension Plans—The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have a
funded defined benefit pension plan, advance payment plan, and defined contribution pension plan covering 
substantially all employees. An overseas subsidiary has an unfunded severance payment plan for its employees. 
Certain subsidiaries adopt the simplified method, which is allowed for small entities that meet certain criteria under 
generally accepted accounting standards in Japan, for calculating the projected benefit obligation and net periodic 
benefit costs.

In calculation of retirement benefit obligation, estimated amounts of retirement benefits are allocated to each 
period by the straight-line method.

Unrecognized past service costs of domestic subsidiaries are amortized using the straight-line method within the 
employees’ average remaining service period from the fiscal year of its incurrence, over a period of 10 years.

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses of domestic subsidiaries are amortized using the straight-line method 
within the employees’ average remaining service period, commencing from the next fiscal year of incurrence, over 
a period of 10 years.

In May 2012, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 26, "Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits" and ASBJ 
Guidance No. 25, "Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits," which replaced the accounting 
standard for retirement benefits that had been issued by the Business Accounting Council in 1998 with an effective 
date of April 1, 2000, and the other related practical guidance, and were followed by partial amendments from time 
to time through 2009.

(ⅰ) Under the revised accounting standard, actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that are yet to be 
recognized in profit or loss are recognized within equity (accumulated other comprehensive income), after 
adjusting for tax effects, and any resulting deficit or surplus is recognized as a liability (liability for retirement 
benefits) or asset (asset for retirement benefits).

(ⅱ) The revised accounting standard does not change how to recognize actuarial gains and losses and past service 
costs in profit or loss. Those amounts are recognized in profit or loss over a certain period no longer than the 
expected average remaining service period of the employees. However, actuarial gains and losses and past 
service costs that arose in the current period and have not yet been recognized in profit or loss are included in 
other comprehensive income and actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that were recognized in other 
comprehensive income in prior periods and then recognized in profit or loss in the current period shall be 
treated as reclassification adjustments. 

(ⅲ) The revised accounting standard also made certain amendments relating to the method of attributing expected 
benefit to periods and relating to the discount rate and expected future salary increases. 

This accounting standard and the guidance for (ⅰ) and (ⅱ) above are effective for the end of annual periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2013, and for (ⅲ) above are effective for the beginning of annual periods beginning 
on or after April 1, 2014, or for the beginning of annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2015, subject to 
certain disclosure in March 2015, both with earlier application being permitted from the beginning of annual 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 2013. However, no retrospective application of this accounting standard to 
consolidated financial statements in prior periods is required.

The Company applied the revised accounting standard and guidance for retirement benefits for (ⅰ) and (ⅱ) above, 
effective March 31, 2014. As a result, liability for retirement benefits of ¥2,790 million ($27,108 thousand) was 
recorded as other liabilities as of March 31, 2014, and deferred tax assets increased by ¥204 million ($1,985 
thousand) and accumulated other comprehensive income decreased by ¥371 million ($3,607 thousand) for the year 
ended March 31, 2014.

The effect of this change on per share information is immaterial.

(o) Stock Options—ASBJ Statement No. 8, “Accounting Standard for Stock Options,” and related guidance are 
applicable to stock options granted on and after May 1, 2006.

This standard requires companies to recognize compensation expense for employee stock options based on the 
fair value at the date of the grant and over the vesting period as consideration for receiving goods or services.
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The standard also requires companies to account for stock options granted to nonemployees based on the fair 
value of either the stock option or the goods or services received. In the consolidated balance sheet, stock options 
are presented as stock acquisition rights as a separate component of equity until exercised.

The Company has applied the accounting standard for stock options to those granted on and after May 1, 2006.

(p) Recognition of Income—The operations of the Group mainly comprise the following areas, and the recognition 
of income is different according to each business.

(ⅰ) Credit card purchase contracts and hire purchase contracts
Installment sales receivables are recognized after the Group has accepted the relevant contracts that participating 
member stores refer to the Group.

The Group receives fees for collection of the installment sales and the related administrative services from the 
member stores under credit card purchase contracts and hire purchase contracts for shopping. The fees from the 
member stores are generally recognized at the time when the Group makes payments for the installment sales 
receivables to the member stores in advance.

The Group receives fees from customers under credit card purchase contracts and hire purchase contracts. The 
fees from customers are recognized principally by the effective interest method.

(ⅱ) Loans and bills discounted
The Group provides cash advance and loan services. Loans and bills discounted are recognized when cash is drawn 
down by customers. The interest income and the customer charge at the start of the contract are recognized 
principally by the effective interest method.

(q) Lease Transactions—All finance lease transactions are capitalized to recognize lease assets and lease 
obligations on the balance sheets. All other leases are accounted for as operating leases.

(r) Income Taxes—The provision for income taxes is computed based on the pretax income included in the 
consolidated statement of income. The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws to the 
temporary differences. A valuation allowance is provided for any portion of the deferred tax assets that is not 
considered to be realizable.

(s) Consumption Taxes—National and local consumption taxes of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries are 
accounted for using the tax-excluded method. However, consumption taxes relating to assets that are not tax 
deductible are recognized as other assets and amortized over the period stipulated in the Corporation Tax Act.

(t) Appropriations of Retained Earnings—Appropriations of retained earnings are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements in the following year upon the Board of Directors’ resolution or shareholders’ approval.

(u) Foreign Currency Transactions—All short-term and long-term monetary receivables and payables 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at each balance sheet date. 
The foreign exchange gains and losses from translation are recognized in the consolidated statements of income to 
the extent that they are not hedged by forward exchange contracts.

(v) Foreign Currency Financial Statements—The balance sheet accounts of the foreign subsidiaries are translated 
into Japanese yen at the current exchange rate as of each balance sheet date, except for equity, which is translated at 
the historical rate. Differences arising from such translation were shown as “Foreign currency translation 
adjustments” under accumulated other comprehensive income in a separate component of equity. Revenue and 
expense accounts of foreign subsidiaries are translated into yen at the average exchange rate.

(w) Derivative Financial Instruments—The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures 
to market fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest rates. The Group enters into forward exchange 
contracts, currency swap contracts, and interest rate swap contracts to reduce its exposures to foreign currency and 
interest rate risk. The Group does not enter into any derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transactions are classified and accounted for as follows: 
(ⅰ) all derivatives are recognized as either assets or liabilities and measured at fair value with gains or losses on 
derivative transactions recognized in the consolidated statements of income and (ⅱ) for derivatives used for 
hedging purposes, if the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting because of a high correlation and effectiveness 
between the hedging instruments and the hedged items, gains or losses on the derivatives are deferred until the 
maturity of the hedged items. Foreign currency-denominated long-term debt for which forward exchange contracts 
are used as hedging instruments are translated at the forward exchange rate if the derivatives qualify for hedge 
accounting. Interest rate swaps are utilized to hedge interest rate exposures of long-term debt. In principle, these 
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swaps which qualify for hedge accounting are measured at market value at the consolidated balance sheet date and 
the unrealized gains or losses, net of applicable taxes, are deferred until maturity as deferred gain/loss on derivatives 
under hedge accounting under accumulated other comprehensive income in a separate component of equity. Interest 
rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and meet specific matching criteria are not remeasured at market 
value, but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements is recognized and included in interest expense 
or income.

(x) Per Share Information—Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common 
shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income per 
share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if outstanding stock acquisition rights were exercised. Diluted 
net income per share of common stock is calculated assuming all outstanding stock acquisition rights are exercised.

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of income are dividends 
applicable to the respective years, including dividends to be paid after the end of the year.

(y) Accounting Changes and Error Corrections
In December 2009, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 24, “Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and 
Error Corrections,” and ASBJ Guidance No. 24, “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and 
Error Corrections.” Accounting treatments under this standard and guidance are as follows:
(ⅰ) Changes in accounting policies
When a new accounting policy is applied due to a revision of accounting standards, the new policy is applied 
retrospectively, unless the revised accounting standards include specific transitional provisions. When the revised 
accounting standards include specific transitional provisions, an entity shall comply with the specific transitional 
provisions.
(ⅱ) Changes in presentation
When the presentation of financial statements is changed, prior-period financial statements are reclassified in 
accordance with the new presentation.
(ⅲ) Changes in accounting estimates
A change in an accounting estimate is accounted for in the period of the change if the change affects that period 
only and is accounted for prospectively if the change affects both the period of the change and future periods.
(ⅳ) Correction of prior-period errors
When an error in prior-period financial statements is discovered, those statements are restated.

(z) New Accounting Pronouncements
Retirement Benefits
On May 17, 2012, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 26, “Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” 
(hereafter the “Accounting Standard”), and ASBJ Guidance No. 25, “Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Retirement Benefits” (hereafter the “Guidance”), which replaced the Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits 
that had been issued by the Business Accounting Council in 1998 with an effective date of April 1, 2000 and the 
other related practical guidance, being followed by partial amendments from time to time through 2009.

Major changes are as follows:
(ⅰ) Treatment in the balance sheet
Under the current requirements, actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that are yet to be recognized in 
profit or loss are not recognized in the balance sheet, and the difference between retirement benefit obligations and 
plan assets (hereinafter, “deficit or surplus”), adjusted by such unrecognized amounts, is recognized as a liability or 
asset.
Under the Accounting Standard, actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that are yet to be recognized in 
profit or loss shall be recognized within equity (accumulated other comprehensive income), after adjusting for tax 
effects, and any resulting deficit or surplus shall be recognized as a liability (liability for retirement benefits) or 
asset (asset for retirement benefits).
(ⅱ) Treatment in the statement of income and the statement of comprehensive income
The Accounting Standard does not change how to recognize actuarial gains and losses and past service costs in 
profit or loss. Those amounts would be recognized in profit or loss over a certain period no longer than the expected 
average remaining working lives of the employees. However, actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that 
arose in the current period and have not yet been recognized in profit or loss shall be included in other 
comprehensive income. Actuarial gains and losses and past service costs that were recognized in other 
comprehensive income in prior periods and then recognized in profit or loss in the current period shall be treated as 
reclassification adjustments.
(ⅲ) Amendments relating to the method of attributing expected benefit to periods and relating to the discount rate 
and expected future salary increases
The Accounting Standard also made certain amendments relating to the method of attributing expected benefit to 
periods and relating to the discount rate and expected future salary increases.
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The Accounting Standard and the Guidance for (ⅰ) and (ⅱ) above are effective for the end of annual periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2013, and for (ⅲ) above are effective for the beginning of annual periods beginning 
on or after April 1, 2014, or for the beginning of annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2015, subject to 
certain disclosure in March 2015, both with earlier application being permitted from the beginning of annual 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 2013. However, no retrospective application of this accounting standard to 
consolidated financial statements in prior periods is required.

The Company applied the Accounting Standard for (ⅰ) and (ⅱ) above from the end of the annual period 
beginning on April 1, 2013, and the Company expects to apply the Accounting Standard for (ⅲ) above from the 
beginning of the annual period beginning on April 1, 2014, and is in the process of measuring the effects of 
applying the revised accounting standard in future applicable periods.

3. MONETARY CLAIMS BOUGHT AND SECURITIES

Monetary claims bought and securities as at March 31, 2014 and securities in banking business and investment 
securities as at March 31, 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Marketable equity securities ¥ 5,755 ¥ 5,689 $ 55,913
Marketable debt securities:

Government bonds 27,030 21,498 262,638
Corporate bonds 36,228 54,334 352,006

Total marketable debt securities 63,258 75,832 614,644
Other securities(*) 116,485 139,425 1,131,805
Total ¥ 185,498 ¥ 220,946 $ 1,802,362

(*) Includes investments in associated companies of ¥227 million ($2,205 thousand) and ¥207 million as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively.

The carrying amounts and aggregate fair values of monetary claims bought and securities as at March 31, 2014 and 
securities in banking business and investment securities as at March 31, 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen

Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value
March 31, 2014
Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale:
Equity securities ¥ 2,619 ¥ 3,170 ¥ (34) ¥ 5,755 
Debt securities 62,672 589 (3) 63,258 

March 31, 2013
Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale:
Equity securities ¥ 2,615 ¥ 3,086 ¥ (12) ¥ 5,689
Debt securities 75,036 796 75,832

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value
March 31, 2014
Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale:
Equity securities $ 25,450 $ 30,801 $ (338) $ 55,913 
Debt securities 608,946 5,730 (32) 614,644 

Available-for-sale securities whose fair values are deemed to be difficult to determine as at March 31, 2014 and 
2013 are disclosed in Note 16.
Loss on revaluation of securities for the year ended March 31, 2014 was ¥3 million ($32 thousand), including loss 
on equity securities of ¥3 million ($32 thousand).
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Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities on the consolidated balance sheets as at March 31, 2014 and 2013 
consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

Thousands 
of

U.S. Dollars
2014 2013 2014

Unrealized gain before deferred tax on:
Available-for-sale securities ¥ 5,649 ¥ 4,160 $ 54,885 
Deferred tax liabilities (1,535) (1,259) (14,915)

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
(before adjustment) 4,114 2,901 39,970 

Minority interests (87) (184) (842)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities ¥ 4,027 ¥ 2,717 $ 39,128 

4. LOANS AND BILLS DISCOUNTED, INSTALLMENT SALES RECEIVABLES, AND FEES 
AND COMMISSIONS

Loans and bills discounted as at March 31, 2014, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Loans and bills discounted ¥ 1,276,741 $ 12,405,187 
Allowance for possible credit losses (27,926) (271,340)

Total ¥ 1,248,815 $ 12,133,847 

Loans and bills discounted as at March 31, 2014, included the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Loans to bankrupt borrowers(*1) ¥ 938 $ 9,109
Non-accrual delinquent loans(*2) 22,284 216,522
Restructured loans(*3) 14,490 140,792

Total ¥ 37,712 $ 366,423
(*1) “Loans to bankrupt borrowers” are loans, after write-off, to legally bankrupt borrowers as defined in Articles 96-1-3 and 96-1-4 of the 

Enforcement Ordinance No. 97 of the Japanese Corporate Tax Law (issued in 1965), and on which accrued interest income is not 
recognized as there is substantial doubt about the ultimate collectability of either principal or interest because they are past due for a 
considerable period of time or for other reasons.

(*2) “Non-accrual delinquent loans” are loans on which accrued interest income is not recognized, excluding “Loans to bankrupt 
borrowers” and loans on which interest payments are deferred in order to support the borrowers’ recovery from financial difficulties.

(*3) “Restructured loans” are loans on which terms and conditions have been amended in favor of the borrowers (e.g., reduction of the 
original interest rate, deferral of interest payments, extension of principal repayments, or debt forgiveness) in order to support the 
borrowers’ recovery from financial difficulties, excluding “Loans to bankrupt borrowers,” “Non-accrual delinquent loans,” and “Past 
due loans (three months or more).”

There were no loans to be categorized as past due loans (three months or more) as at March 31, 2014. “Past due 
loans (three months or more)” are loans on which the principal and/or interest is past due for three months or more, 
excluding “Loans to bankrupt borrowers” and “Non-accrual delinquent loans.”

Bills discounted are accounted for as financial transactions in accordance with JICPA Industry Audit Committee 
Report No. 24. The Group has rights to sell or pledge commercial bills discounted without restrictions. The total 
face value as at March 31, 2014 was ¥1,118 million ($10,867 million).
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Installment sales receivables as at March 31, 2014, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Installment sales receivables:

Credit card purchase contracts ¥ 748,828 $ 7,275,824 
Hire purchase contracts 208,576 2,026,585 

Subtotal 957,404 9,302,409 
Allowance for possible credit losses (19,645) (190,878)

Total ¥ 937,759 $ 9,111,531 

Fees and commissions for the year ended March 31, 2014, included the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Credit card purchase contracts ¥ 92,280 $ 896,621

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment as at March 31, 2014, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Land ¥ 742 $ 7,212 
Structures 8,469 82,289 
Equipment 43,808 425,645 
Construction in progress 10 92
Other property and equipment 8,655 84,098 

Subtotal 61,684 599,336 
Accumulated depreciation (30,498) (296,328)

Total ¥ 31,186 $ 303,008 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets as at March 31, 2014, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Software ¥ 31,243 $ 303,572 
Goodwill (Notes 14 and 20) 28,888 280,680 
Other intangible assets 7,592 73,769 

Total ¥ 67,723 $ 658,021 

7. PLEDGED ASSETS

Assets pledged as collateral as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Assets pledged as collateral:

Securities ¥ 4,990 $ 48,484 
Operating loan receivables  ¥ 11,302  
Loans and bills discounted 12,696 123,364 
Installment sales receivables 15,381 15,682 149,443 

Total ¥ 33,067 ¥ 26,984 $ 321,291 
Liabilities corresponding to assets pledged as collateral:   

Call money 4,900 47,610 
Long-term debt  17,813  
Borrowed money 17,579 170,806 
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In addition to the assets presented above, the following assets were pledged as collateral for exchange settlements 
and other transactions as at March 31, 2014 and 2013:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Securities in banking business ¥ 21,498
Securities ¥ 22,041 $ 214,154

Moreover, other assets included guarantee money deposits, and these amounts as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, are 
as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Guarantee money deposits ¥ 4,074 ¥ 3,815 $ 39,582

8. BORROWED MONEY, BONDS, AND LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Borrowed money and lease obligations included in other liabilities as at March 31, 2014, consisted of the following:

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Average 
interest 
rate(*1)

2014 2014 2014 Due

Borrowed money ¥ 515,228 $ 5,006,098 2.54% From April 2014
to December 2020

Lease obligations 12,607 122,497 2.03% From May 2014
to March 2022

(*1) Average interest rate represents the weighted-average interest rate based on the balances and rates at the end of fiscal year.
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Bonds and convertible bonds as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Issued by the Company:

Unsecured 1.79% Japanese yen notes due February 2014 ¥ 20,000 
Unsecured 1.02% Japanese yen notes due April 2015 ¥ 20,000 20,000 $ 194,326 
¥15,000,000,000 Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds due 2016 1,060 15,000 10,299 
¥15,000,000,000 Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds due 2017 1,770 15,000 17,198 
Unsecured 0.349% pari passu Japanese yen notes due March 2019 10,000 97,163 
Unsecured 0.572% pari passu Japanese yen notes due March 2021 10,000 97,163 
Unsecured 0.83% callable subordinated Japanese yen notes due April 

2024 30,000 291,488 

Unsecured 0.83% callable subordinated Japanese yen notes due April 
2024 10,000 97,163 

Issued by AEON Thana Sinsap (Thailand) Plc.:
Unsecured 3.28% Thai baht notes due July 2015 2,041 1,861 19,829 
Unsecured 4.06% Thai baht notes due July 2016 1,524 1,390 14,812 
Unsecured 3.85% Thai baht notes due December 2016 2,022 1,841 19,648 
Unsecured 4.44% Thai baht notes due August 2017 3,008 2,733 29,231 
Unsecured 4.77% Thai baht notes due September 2017 2,042 1,868 19,836 
Unsecured 4.14% Thai baht notes due July 2018 1,702 16,533 
Unsecured 5.45% Thai baht notes due November 2018 3,077 29,900 

Issued by AEON Credit Service (M) Berhad:
Medium Term Note 4.15% Malaysia Ringgit due May 2013 606 
Medium Term Note 4.00% Malaysia Ringgit due October 2013 1,514 
Medium Term Note 4.05% Malaysia Ringgit due July 2013 908 
Medium Term Note 4.05% Malaysia Ringgit due September 2013 909 
Medium Term Note 3.85% Malaysia Ringgit due November 2013 1,212 
Medium Term Note 3.80% Malaysia Ringgit due January 2014 303 
Medium Term Note 3.85% Malaysia Ringgit due January 2014 757 
Medium Term Note 3.90% Malaysia Ringgit due July 2013 454 
Medium Term Note 3.95% Malaysia Ringgit due April 2017 1,548 1,514 15,041 
Medium Term Note 3.95% Malaysia Ringgit due April 2017 1,238 1,212 12,033 
Medium Term Note 3.95% Malaysia Ringgit due May 2017 1,703 1,666 16,545 
Medium Term Note 3.95% Malaysia Ringgit due July 2017 1,703 1,666 16,545 

Total ¥ 104,438 ¥ 92,414 $ 1,014,753

The following is a summary of the terms for conversion and redemption of the convertible bonds with stock 
acquisition rights:

Conversion
Price(*1)

Number of shares
of Common Stock

(thousands)(*2)
Exercise Period

¥15,000,000,000 Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds due 2016 ¥ 1,433.9 739 From April 6, 2012
to March 8, 2016

¥15,000,000,000 Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds due 2017 1,398.1 1,266 From April 6, 2012
to March 9, 2017

(*1) The conversion price is subject to adjustment for certain subsequent events, such as the issue of common stock at less than market value 
and stock splits.

(*2) Numbers of shares of common stock are calculated on the assumption that all convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights are 
converted as at March 31, 2014.

The annual maturities of borrowed money as at March 31, 2014, were as follows:

Years ended March 31 Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2015 ¥ 216,798 $ 2,106,471 
2016 87,801 853,095 
2017 108,547 1,054,673 
2018 33,626 326,721 
2019 57,115 554,942 
2020 and thereafter 11,341 110,196 

Total ¥ 515,228 $ 5,006,098
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The annual maturities of bonds as at March 31, 2014, were as follows:

Years ended March 31 Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2015
2016 ¥ 23,101 $ 224,454 
2017 5,316 51,658 
2018 11,242 109,230 
2019 14,779 143,597 
2020 and thereafter 50,000 485,814 

Total ¥ 104,438 $ 1,014,753

The annual maturities of lease obligations as at March 31, 2014, were as follows:

Years ended March 31 Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2015 ¥ 2,521 $ 24,498 
2016 2,389 23,209 
2017 1,802 17,511 
2018 1,527 14,834 
2019 1,504 14,613 
2020 and thereafter 2,864 27,832 

Total ¥ 12,607 $ 122,497

9. RETIREMENT BENEFIT AND PENSION PLANS

For the year ended March 31, 2014

The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have a funded defined benefit pension plan, advance 
payment plan, and defined contribution pension plan for their employees. An overseas subsidiary has an unfunded 
severance payment plan for its employees.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries adopt the simplified method, which is allowed for small entities that meet 
certain criteria under generally accepted accounting standards in Japan, in calculating their liability for retirement 
benefits the projected benefit obligation and net periodic benefit costs.

(a) The changes in defined benefit obligation (including the obligation calculated by the simple method) for the year 
ended March 31, 2014, were as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Balance at beginning of year ¥ 1,740 $ 16,910 

Current service cost 148 1,436 
Interest cost 62 608 
Actuarial gains and losses 66 642 
Benefits paid (136) (1,324)
Other(*) 2,089 20,294 

Balance at end of year ¥ 3,969 $ 38,566 
(*) Includes increase by the acquisition of AEON Product Finance Co., Ltd.

(b) The changes in plan assets for the year ended March 31, 2014 were as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Balance at beginning of year ¥ 987 $ 9,595 

Expected return on plan assets 11 108 
Actuarial gains and losses 84 815 
Contributions from the employer 158 1,533 
Benefits paid (61) (593)

Balance at end of year ¥ 1,179 $ 11,458 
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(c) Reconciliation between the liability recorded in the consolidated balance sheet and the balances of defined 
benefit obligation and plan assets for the year ended March 31, 2014

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Funded defined benefit obligation ¥ 1,471 $ 14,293 
Plan assets (1,179) (11,458)

292 2,835 
Unfunded defined benefit obligation 2,498 24,273 
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation ¥ 2,790 $ 27,108 

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Liability for retirement benefits ¥ 2,790 $ 27,108 
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation ¥ 2,790 $ 27,108 
(*) Includes the obligation calculated by the simplified method.

(d) The components of net periodic benefit costs for the year ended March 31, 2014, were as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Service cost(*) ¥ 148 $ 1,436 
Interest cost 62 608 
Expected return on plan assets (11) (108)
Recognized actuarial losses 83 806 
Amortization of past service costs 33 319 
Net periodic benefit costs ¥ 315 $ 3,061 
(*) Includes the cost calculated by the simplified method.

(e) Accumulated other comprehensive income on defined retirement benefit plans as at March 31, 2014:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Unrecognized past service costs ¥ 175 $ 1,701 
Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses 401 3,897 
Total ¥ 576 $ 5,598 

(f) Plan assets
(ⅰ) Components of plan assets

Plan assets consisted of the following:
2014

Debt securities 59.3%
Equity securities 12.6%
Assets in the life insurer’s general account 12.4%
Other(*) 15.7%
Total 100.0%
(*) Includes mainly cash and alternative investments.

(ⅱ) Method of determining the expected rate of return on plan assets
The expected rate of return on plan assets is determined considering the long-term rates of return which are 
expected currently and in the future from the various components of the plan assets.

(g) Assumptions used for the year ended March 31, 2014, were set forth as follows:
2014

Discount rate mainly 1.9%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 1.13%

The required contribution amount to the defined contribution pension plan is ¥237 million ($2,300 thousand).

The amount of benefits paid under the advance payment plan is ¥56 million ($540 thousand).
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For the year ended March 31, 2013

The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries sponsor a defined benefit pension plan, advance payment 
plan, and defined contribution pension plan for their employees. An overseas subsidiary has a severance payment 
plan for employees.

The net retirement benefit liability, which was booked under other assets and/or other liabilities as at March 31, 
2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
2013

Projected benefit obligation ¥ 1,740
Fair value of plan assets (987)
Unrecognized actuarial loss (378)
Net retirement benefit liability ¥ 375

Asset (45)
Liability ¥ 420

The components of net periodic benefit costs for the year ended March 31, 2013, were as follows:
Millions of Yen

2013
Service cost ¥ 197
Interest cost 28
Expected return on plan assets (11)
Recognized actuarial loss 95
Other 165

Total ¥ 474

Assumptions used for the year ended March 31, 2013, were set forth as follows:
2013

Discount rate 1.9%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 1.33%
Recognition period of actuarial gain/loss 10 years

10. EQUITY

Japanese companies are subject to the Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act”). The significant provisions 
in the Companies Act that affect financial and accounting matters are summarized below:

(a) Dividends
Under the Companies Act, companies can pay dividends at any time during the fiscal year in addition to the 
year-end dividend upon resolution at the shareholders’ meeting. For companies that meet certain criteria, such as 
(ⅰ) having a Board of Directors, (ⅱ) having independent auditors, (ⅲ) having an Audit & Supervisory Board, and 
(ⅳ) the term of service of the directors is prescribed as one year rather than two years of normal term by its articles 
of incorporation, the Board of Directors may declare dividends (except for dividends in kind) at any time during the 
fiscal year if the company has prescribed so in its articles of incorporation.

The Board of Directors of the Company can declare dividends without resolution at the shareholders’ meeting, 
since the Company is organized as a company with board committees and meet the above criteria. The Companies 
Act permits companies to distribute dividends in kind (noncash assets) to shareholders subject to certain limitations 
and additional requirements.

Semiannual interim dividends may also be paid once a year upon resolution by the Board of Directors if the 
articles of incorporation of the Company so stipulate. The Companies Act provides certain limitations on the 
amounts available for dividends or the purchase of treasury stock. The limitation is defined as the amount available 
for distribution to the shareholders, but the amount of net assets after dividends must be maintained at no less than 
¥3 million.

(b) Increases/decreases and transfer of common stock, reserve, and surplus
The Companies Act requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a 
component of retained earnings) or as additional paid-in capital (a component of capital surplus) depending on the 
equity account charged upon the payment of such dividends until the total of the aggregate amount of the legal 
reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% of the amount of common stock. Under the Companies Act, the 
total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal reserve may be reversed without limitation of such threshold. 
The Companies Act also provides that common stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus, 
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and retained earnings can be transferred among the accounts under certain conditions upon resolution of the 
shareholders.

(c) Treasury stock and treasury stock acquisition rights
The Companies Act also provides for companies to purchase treasury stock and dispose of such treasury stock by 
resolution of the Board of Directors. The amount of treasury stock purchased cannot exceed the amount available 
for distribution to the shareholders, which is determined by a specific formula. Under the Companies Act, stock 
acquisition rights, which were previously presented as a liability, are now presented as a separate component of 
equity. The Companies Act also provides that companies can purchase both treasury stock acquisition rights and 
treasury stock. Such treasury stock acquisition rights are presented as a separate component of equity or deducted 
directly from stock acquisition rights.

(d) Significant change in equity
The Company’s common stock and capital surplus increased by ¥13,585 million ($131,996 thousand) each, and 
convertible bonds the Company issued decreased by ¥27,170 million ($263,992 thousand). These changes were due 
to the conversion of convertible bonds into shares.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The stock options outstanding as at March 31, 2014, were as follows:

Stock Option
Persons 
Granted

Number of 
Options 
Granted Date of Grant Exercise Price Exercise Period

2012 Stock Option 12 directors 15,500 shares April 21, 2011 ¥   1
$ 0.01

From May 21, 2011
through May 20, 2026

2013 Stock Option 6 directors 12,100 shares April 21, 2012 ¥   1
$ 0.01

From May 21, 2012
through May 20, 2027

2014 Stock Option 6 directors 12,000 shares July 21, 2013 ¥   1
$ 0.01

From August 21, 2013
through August 20, 2028

The summary of stock option activity is as follows:
2014
Stock 

Option

2013
Stock 
Option

2012
Stock 
Option

Nonvested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted 12,000
Expired
Vested 12,000
Outstanding at end of year

Vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year 10,500 14,000
Vested 12,000
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding at end of year 12,000 10,500 14,000

Exercise price ¥ 1 ¥ 1 ¥ 1
$ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.01

Fair value price at grant date ¥ 2,715 ¥ 1,081 ¥ 809
$ 26.38 $ 10.50 $ 7.86

The assumptions used to measure fair value of stock options vested during fiscal year 2014 were as follows:
2014

Stock Option
Measurement method Black-Scholes option-pricing model
Risk-free interest rate 0.61%
Expected life of option grants 7.5 years
Expected volatility of underlying stock 45.32%
Estimated dividend ¥60 per share
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12. OTHER INCOME

Other income for the year ended March 31, 2014, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2014
Gain on bad debts recovered ¥ 9,238 $ 89,758 
Other 6,912 67,155
Total ¥ 16,150 $ 156,913 

13. INCOME TAXES

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to Japanese national and local income taxes, which, in the 
aggregate, resulted in a normal effective statutory tax rate of approximately 37.7% for the years ended March 31, 
2014 and 2013. The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards, which resulted in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for possible credit losses ¥ 8,661 ¥ 8,022 $ 84,157 
Finance receivables 243
Loans and bills discounted and installment sales 

receivables 331 3,218 

Allowance for point program 4,136 3,402 40,182 
Allowance for loss on refund of interest received 1,089 1,403 10,584 
Accrued income 798 847 7,752 
Property and equipment 378 173 3,675 
Intangible assets 73 107 707 
Liability for retirement benefits 956 9,289 
Tax loss carryforwards 12,512 15,277 121,570 
Unrealized loss on acquisition of subsidiaries 2,179 4,032 21,170 
Other 4,359 4,740 42,355 
Less valuation allowance (12,783) (16,932) (124,205)

Total deferred tax assets ¥ 22,689 ¥ 21,314 $ 220,454
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation in consolidated foreign subsidiaries ¥ 439 ¥ 417 $ 4,264
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 1,938 2,082 18,829
Unrealized gain on acquisition of subsidiaries 3,150 4,497 30,608
Other 224 291 2,179

Total deferred tax liabilities ¥ 5,751 ¥ 7,287 $ 55,880
Net deferred tax assets ¥ 16,938 ¥ 14,027 $ 164,574

Reconciliations between the normal effective statutory tax rates and the actual effective tax rates reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

2014 2013
Normal effective statutory tax rate 37.7% 37.7%
Earnings not taxable and expenses not deductible for income tax purposes—net (3.3) (2.6)
Per capita portion of inhabitants tax 0.7 0.6
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries (7.2) (7.3)
Influence of elimination in consolidation 6.1 7.6
Influence of changes in the statutory tax rate 5.0 4.3
Tax loss carryforwards (5.5) (4.4)
Less valuation allowance (4.7) 1.3
Other 1.1 0.3
Actual effective tax rate 29.9% 37.5%
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Changes in the Statutory Tax Rates
According to the promulgation of the “Act on Partial Revision of the Income Tax Act, etc.” (Law No. 10, 2014) on 
March 31, 2014, the special corporate tax for reconstruction will be repealed from the fiscal years beginning on or 
after April 1, 2014. This new tax reform law enacted in 2014 in Japan changed the normal effective statutory tax rate 
for the fiscal year beginning on or after April 1, 2014 from 37.7% to 35.3%. The effect of this change was to decrease 
deferred tax assets in the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2014 by ¥934 million ($9,077 thousand) and to 
increase income taxes—deferred in the consolidated statement of income for the year then ended by ¥934 million 
($9,077 thousand).

14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Purchases of newly consolidated subsidiaries
For the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of AEON 
Product Finance Co., Ltd. and turned it into a newly consolidated subsidiary. Assets and liabilities of AEON 
Product Finance Co., Ltd. at the time of the acquisition were as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Total assets ¥ 317,420 $ 3,084,143 
Of which: customers’ liabilities 

for acceptances and guarantees 235,846 2,291,549 
Of which: installment sales 

receivables 73,856 717,602 
Total liabilities 313,360 3,044,691 

Of which: acceptances and 
guarantees 235,846 2,291,549 

Of which: borrowed money 56,087 544,957 
Goodwill 1,782 17,313 
Total acquisition cost of AEON 

Product Finance Co., Ltd. 5,842 56,765 
Cash and cash equivalents of 

AEON Product Finance Co., Ltd. (2,908) (28,262)
Cash paid in conjunction with the 

purchase of AEON Product 
Finance Co., Ltd. ¥ 2,934 $ 28,503 

For the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company executed a share exchange with AEON Bank, Ltd., in which the 
Company became the wholly-owning parent company and AEON Bank, Ltd. became the wholly-owned subsidiary 
company. Assets and liabilities of AEON Bank, Ltd. and one other company that were newly consolidated at the 
time of the share exchange were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Current assets ¥ 1,221,266
Noncurrent assets 15,794
Total assets acquired ¥ 1,237,060

Current liabilities ¥ (1,182,169)
Long-term liabilities (3,019)
Total liabilities assumed ¥ (1,185,188)

The cash and cash equivalents of ¥205,109 million at the time of the share exchange are included in the current 
assets and recognized in “Increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from share exchange.”

15. LEASES

The Group leases equipment, software, and other assets.
Total rental expenses for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 were ¥9,848 million ($95,682 thousand) and 

¥7,804 million, respectively.
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The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases as at March 31, 2014 and 2013 were as 
follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Due within one year ¥ 1,930 ¥ 1,386 $ 18,750 
Due after one year 2,468 1,597 23,986 
Total ¥ 4,398 ¥ 2,983 $ 42,736 

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES

(a) Conditions of financial instruments
(ⅰ) Group policy for financial instruments
The Group operates a variety of financial services business, such as credit card business, housing loan business, and 
hire purchase business. The domestic banking subsidiary invests in securities, including debt securities, as well.

The Group raises capital mainly through customer deposits, borrowings from financial institutions, issuance of 
bonds and commercial paper, and securitization of receivables in the view of the market conditions and 
short-term/long-term balance. Certain subsidiaries are located overseas, and they conduct their business in foreign 
currencies.

The Group holds financial assets and liabilities, which are exposed to interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk, 
and manages the interest rate risk through Asset Liability Management.

The Group also utilizes derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk, but 
does not enter into derivative transactions for trading or speculative purposes.
(ⅱ) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
The Group’s major financial assets are loans and installment sales receivables for customers such as housing loans 
and credit card services and corporate loans, which are exposed to credit risk of customer defaults and interest rate 
risk. In addition, securities, such as foreign securities, debt securities, and equity securities, and monetary claims 
bought are mainly exposed to market risk and credit risk of their issuers.

Financial liabilities, such as deposits, borrowed money, and bonds, are exposed to liquidity risk in that the 
Group cannot make necessary payments upon due dates under certain circumstances, such as when it cannot access 
the market due to changes in financial situation or other situations or when its financial results deteriorate.

The Group enters into derivative transactions to avoid part of its exposure to interest rate risk and foreign 
exchange risk. Derivative financial instruments include interest rate swap contracts and currency swap contracts, 
and are used to hedge interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk. These instruments are exposed to credit risk of 
counterparty defaults.
(ⅲ) Risk management for financial instruments
The Company considers that the Group’s risk management is one of the most important issues for the Group’s 
management. The Board of Directors resolves the fundamental matters on risk management as the highest 
decision-making body. Information concerning risk management is regularly reported to the Board. In addition, the 
Company has established the Risk Management Committee to conduct group-wide risk management based on the 
basic risk management policy resolved by the Board of Directors. The Company also established the Risk 
Management Department as a supervisory function for management of risks related to financial instruments. As a 
bank holding company, the Company recognizes an appropriate control over the Group’s risks as one of the key 
challenges of the business operation of the Group. In order to develop group-wide risk management structures, the 
fundamental matters on risk management for the Group are set forth in “Group Risk Management Policies.”

These risk management structures are internally audited by the Audit Department, which is independent from
the audited departments, to verify their effectiveness and appropriateness.
• Credit risk management
The Group manages credit risk with appropriate credit assessment and management in accordance with the Group’s 
credit risk control policies and structures. This credit assessment and management is conducted by the following 
divisions: the credit assessment division keeps track of the credit status of customers at the time of and after credit 
extension and the credit management division conducts analysis and research on credit risk and collaborate with the 
credit assessment division. In addition, Value at Risk (an estimated amount of loss on financial instruments held by 
the Group for a certain future time period based on the historical data at a certain confidence level, hereafter “VaR”) 
is measured to quantify credit risk and regularly reported to the Risk Management Committee and the Board of 
Directors.

Credit risk arising from default of the counterparties of derivative transactions is considered to be limited, as 
such transactions are conducted with various highly credible financial institutions.
• Market risk management
The Company appropriately manages market risk by determining the position and scale of the risk in accordance 
with the Group’s market risk control policies and structures. The status of risk management is regularly reported to 
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the Risk Management Department and the Risk Management Committee. The Group maintains a reciprocal control 
mechanism as an organizational system to manage the market risk by establishing an internal organization 
independent from the revenue-generating divisions. In addition, Quantitative market risk analysis is performed for 
all financial instruments held by the Group to manage the risk level by using VaR. Specifically, the market risk is 
controlled so that VaR does not exceed risk limits (allocated capital amount) resolved by the Board of Directors.
(1) Interest rate risk management
The Company implements the interest rate risk management structure throughout the Group in order to 
appropriately respond to customer needs for various financial services provided by the Group and improve its 
overall earning capacity. The Risk Management Department measures VaR and Basis Point Value (which denotes 
the change in value of a financial instrument when, for example, the interest rate changes by a 10 basis point (0.1 
percentage)) to manage interest rate risk. In addition, the Risk Management Department performs stress tests and 
regularly reports to the Risk Management Committee and the Board of Directors.
(2) Security price risk management
The risk of holding investments, including securities, is managed under the basic policy of risk management: “to 
promote comprehensive risk management for the purpose of maintaining the soundness of management and 
achieving a steady and sustaining growth by self-controlling the market risk as a whole with comparison to the 
Group’s financial strength determined by management.” The Group measures the security price risk through VaR 
and regularly monitors the results of VaR and stress tests against the risk limits to ensure both soundness and 
profitability of securities. In addition, the Group regularly reports the monitoring results of the investments, 
including debt and equity securities issuers’ performance, to the Risk Management Committee and the Board of 
Directors, as changes in creditworthiness of the securities issuers affect the price of the securities.
(3) Foreign exchange risk management
Of the various market risk to which the Group is exposed, foreign exchange risk of foreign currency financial 
instruments is hedged by raising funds in foreign currencies and utilizing currency swap contracts and interest rate 
swap contracts, so that part of the effect resulting from fluctuations in each exchange rate is avoided. The Risk 
Management Department monitors fluctuations of foreign exchange rates and regularly reports to the Risk 
Management Committee and the Board of Directors. Risk measurement through VaR is not performed for the 
foreign exchange risk, as the quantitative impact is considered to be limited.
(4) Derivative financial instruments
The Group hedges the interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk related to financing by utilizing derivative 
financial instruments. The Group contemplates the terms and conditions, including price, period, and timing of 
settlement, in entering into the derivative contracts. The department that conducts the transactions and the
department that monitors the transactions are separated.
(5) Quantitative information on market risk
As for interest rate risk, The Group applies the delta model (holding period: 240 days, historical observation period: 
one year, and confidence interval: 99%) to calculate VaR. The amount of VaR as at March 31, 2014 is ¥3,453 
million ($33,548 thousand) (2013: ¥5,060 million). Although certain domestic subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries 
hold financial instruments that are not subject to the VaR measurement, an effect of 10 basis point (0.1 percentage) 
change in the benchmark interest rate is considered to be limited, assuming that every other risk parameter is 
constant. For security price risk other than interest rate risk, the Group applies the Monte-Carlo simulation (holding 
period: three months, historical observation period: five years, and confidence interval: 99%) to calculate VaR. The 
amount of VaR as at March 31, 2014 is ¥38,065 million ($369,851 thousand) (2013: ¥6,285 million).

These figures represent the market volatility statically calculated based on a probability-based approach that 
takes into account historical credit spread and fluctuation in correlations. Accordingly, the market risk may not be 
captured properly in the event of an extreme market movement beyond normal expectations.
• Liquidity risk management
The Group manages liquidity risk through continuous monitoring of cash flows to maintain the appropriate funding 
level and through other means, including diversifying financial instruments, acquiring commitment lines from 
multiple financial institutions, and adjusting short-term/long-term balances taking into account the market 
conditions.

The domestic banking subsidiary controls liquidity risk by establishing a payment reserve asset holding ratio 
and cash gap limits, which are monitored by the Risk Management Department on a daily basis. The monitoring 
results are reported regularly to the Risk Management Committee and the Board of Directors. Although the 
domestic banking subsidiary places value on efficient cash management, it places more weight on securing liquidity 
for risk management purposes.
(ⅳ) Supplementary information on fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments are measured based on quoted market prices, if available, or a reasonably 
assessed value if a quoted market price is not available. In the case of the latter, certain assumptions and variable 
preconditions are adopted. Accordingly, if different assumptions and preconditions are adopted, the calculated 
amount of the fair value may also be different.

See Note 17 for the details regarding fair value for derivatives.

53  Aeon Financial Service 2014



32

(b) Fair value of financial instruments
The following presents the carrying amount of financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet, the fair value, 
and the difference between the two as at March 31, 2014 and 2013. Financial instruments whose fair values are 
deemed to be difficult to determine are not included in the fair value disclosure.

Millions of Yen
2014

Carrying
Amount Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 408,171 ¥ 408,171 
(2) Deposits with banks 8,492 8,492 
(3) Monetary claims bought 12,119 12,119 
(4) Securities 163,054 163,054 
(5) Loans and bills discounted—net of allowance for 

possible credit losses 1,248,815 1,276,654 ¥ 27,839 

(6) Installment sales receivables—net of allowance 
for possible credit losses  937,759   941,666   3,907 

Total  ¥ 2,778,410  ¥ 2,810,156 ¥ 31,746
(7) Deposits ¥ 1,717,769 ¥ 1,717,985 ¥ 216 
(8) Accounts payable 227,264 227,264 
(9) Borrowed money 515,228 518,489 3,261 
(10) Bonds 101,608 101,888 280 
(11) Convertible bonds  2,830   4,674   1,844 

Total  ¥ 2,564,699  ¥ 2,570,300 ¥ 5,601
(12) Derivative financial instruments (Note 17):

Hedge accounting not applied ¥ (103) ¥ (103)
Hedge accounting applied  (2,923)   (2,923)    

Total  ¥ (3,026)  ¥ (3,026)

Millions of Yen
2013

Carrying
Amount Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 499,475 ¥ 499,475
(2) Call loans 10,000 10,000
(3) Finance receivables—net of allowance for

possible credit losses 891,556 916,732 ¥ 25,176

(4) Loans and bills discounted in banking business
—net of allowance for possible credit losses 702,886 705,177 2,291

(5) Securities in banking business 205,081 205,081
(6) Investment securities 5,689 5,689

Total ¥ 2,314,687 ¥ 2,342,154 ¥ 27,467
(7) Accounts payable ¥ 207,650 ¥ 207,650
(8) Deposits in banking business 1,212,051 1,210,950 ¥ (1,101)
(9) Short-term borrowings 306,739 306,739
(10) Long-term debt 486,874 518,419 31,545

Total ¥ 2,213,314 ¥ 2,243,758 ¥ 30,444
(11) Derivative financial instruments (Note 17) ¥ (10,657) ¥ (10,657)
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Carrying
Amount Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,965,901 $ 3,965,901 
(2) Deposits with banks 82,508 82,508 
(3) Monetary claims bought 117,757 117,757 
(4) Securities 1,584,284 1,584,284 
(5) Loans and bills discounted—net of allowance for 

possible credit losses 12,133,847 12,404,329 $ 270,482 

(6) Installment sales receivables—net of allowance 
for possible credit losses  9,111,531   9,149,500   37,969 

Total $ 26,995,828 $ 27,304,279 $ 308,451 
(7) Deposits $ 16,690,338 $ 16,692,433 $ 2,095 
(8) Accounts payable 2,208,167 2,208,167 
(9) Borrowed money 5,006,098 5,037,782 31,684 
(10) Bonds 987,256 989,974 2,718 
(11) Convertible bonds  27,497   45,418   17,921 

Total $ 24,919,356 $ 24,973,774 $ 54,418 
(12) Derivative financial instruments (Note 17):

Hedge accounting not applied $ (1,005) $ (1,005)
Hedge accounting applied  (28,398)   (28,398)    

Total $ (29,403) $ (29,403)   

(ⅰ) Fair value of financial instruments

For the year ended March 31, 2014

(1) Cash and cash equivalents and (2) Deposits with banks
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks are considered to approximate their fair 
values because of their short maturities.
(3) Monetary claims bought
The fair value of monetary claims bought is determined based on prices provided by financial institutions or the 
discounted present value of future cash flows.
(4) Securities
The fair value of equity securities is determined with reference to quoted prices on the stock exchange. The fair 
value of debt securities is determined based on prices published by the Japanese Securities Dealers Association, 
prices provided by financial institutions, or the discounted present value of future cash flows.
(5) Loans and bills discounted—net of allowance for possible credit losses
① Loans and bills discounted in banking business

The carrying amount of loans and bills discounted in the banking business with floating interest rates 
approximates the fair value as long as borrowers' credit risks have not changed significantly after the execution 
of loans because the market rates are promptly reflected in the floating interest rates. The fair value of loans and 
bills discounted in the banking business with fixed-interest rates is the present value that is estimated for each 
classification based on the type, internal rating, and term of the loans, and by discounting the total amounts of 
the principal and interest using the rates at which similar new loans would be made. For loans and bills 
discounted in the banking business with maturity less than one year, the carrying amount is considered to 
approximate their fair values because of their short maturities.

For loans to borrowers which are bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, or potentially bankrupt, an allowance is 
provided based on amounts expected to be collected through the disposal of collateral or execution of guarantees. 
The carrying value of those loans, net of allowance for possible credit losses, as of the consolidated balance 
sheet date is a reasonable estimate of the fair values of those loans.

The carrying amount of loans and bills discounted in the banking business that do not have fixed maturities 
due to loan characteristics, such as limited loan amounts within the value of pledged assets, approximates the 
fair value due to their expected repayment periods and interest rate conditions.

② Loan receivables in credit card business
The fair value of loan receivables in credit card business is determined by discounting expected cash flows 
(credit risk incorporated) of each segmented product with a discount rate consisting of a risk-free rate and 
collection costs of each product (expense ratio).
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(6) Installment sales receivables—net of allowance for possible credit losses
The fair value of installment sales receivables is determined by discounting expected cash flows (credit risk 
incorporated) of each segmented product with a discount rate consisting of a risk-free rate and collection costs of 
each product (expense ratio).
(7) Deposits
For demand deposits, the amount payable on demand as of the consolidated balance sheet date is considered to be 
the fair value. The fair value of time deposits is calculated based on the discounted present value of future cash 
flows by certain time period. The discount rate used in the calculation is the interest rate that would be applied to 
newly accepted deposits. For short-term deposits, the carrying amount is considered to approximate their fair values 
because of their short maturities.
(8) Accounts payable
The carrying amount of accounts payable is considered to approximate their fair values because these items will be 
settled in a short period of time.
(9) Borrowed money
The fair value of borrowed money is determined by discounting the total amounts of principal and interest by a 
risk-free rate adjusted for credit risk. The carrying amount of short-term borrowed money (within one year) is 
considered to approximate their fair values because these items will be settled in a short period of time.
(10) Bonds and (11) Convertible bonds
The fair values of bonds and convertible bonds are determined with reference to quoted market prices.
(12) Derivative financial instruments
Information on the fair values of derivative financial instruments is included in Note 17.

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(1) Cash and cash equivalents and (2) Call loans
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and call loans are considered to approximate their fair values 
because of their short maturities.
(3) Finance receivables—net of allowance for possible credit losses
The fair value of finance receivables is determined by discounting expected cash flows (credit risk incorporated) of 
each segmented product with a discount rate consisting of a risk-free rate and collection costs of each product 
(expense ratio).
(4) Loans and bills discounted in banking business—net of allowance for possible credit losses
The carrying amount of loans in the banking business with floating interest rates approximates the fair value as long 
as borrowers' credit risks have not changed significantly after the execution of loans because the market rates are 
promptly reflected in the floating interest rates. The fair value of loans in the banking business with fixed-interest 
rates is the present value that is estimated for each classification based on the type, internal rating, and term of the 
loans, and by discounting the total amounts of the principal and interest using the rates at which similar new loans 
would be made. For loans in the banking business with maturity less than one year, the carrying amount is 
considered to approximate their fair values because of their short maturities.

For loans to borrowers which are bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, or potentially bankrupt, an allowance is 
provided based on amounts expected to be collected through the disposal of collateral or execution of guarantees. 
The carrying value of those loans, net of allowance for possible credit losses, as of the consolidated balance sheet 
date is a reasonable estimate of the fair values of those loans.

The carrying amount of loans in the banking business that do not have fixed maturities due to loan 
characteristics, such as limited loan amounts within the value of pledged assets, approximates the fair value due to 
their expected repayment periods and interest rate conditions.
(5) Securities in banking business
The fair value of bonds is determined based on prices published by the Japanese Securities Dealers Association, 
prices provided by financial institutions, or the discounted present value of future cash flows. The fair value of 
monetary claims bought is determined based on prices provided by financial institutions or the discounted present 
value of future cash flows.
(6) Investment securities
The fair value of stock with market quotations is determined with reference to quoted market prices. Stock with no 
market quotations and trust beneficiary rights are considered to be financial instruments whose fair values are 
deemed to be difficult to determine. Their fair values are not included in the fair value disclosure.
(7) Accounts payable and (9) Short-term borrowings
The carrying amounts of accounts payable and short-term borrowings are considered to approximate their fair 
values because these items will be settled in a short period of time.
(8) Deposits in banking business
For demand deposits, the amount payable on demand as of the consolidated balance sheet date is considered to be 
the fair value. The fair value of time deposits is calculated based on the discounted present value of future cash 
flows by certain time period. The discount rate used in the calculation is the interest rate that would be applied to 
newly accepted deposits. For short-term deposits, the carrying amount is considered to approximate their fair values 
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because of their short maturities.
(10) Long-term debt
The fair values of bonds are determined with reference to quoted market prices. The fair values of other long-term 
debt are determined by discounting the total amounts of principal and interest by current interest rates assumed for 
the same debt.
(11) Derivative financial instruments
Information on the fair values of derivative financial instruments is included in Note 17.

(ⅱ) Financial instruments whose fair values are deemed to be difficult to determine
The financial instruments below are not included in the fair value disclosure due to difficulties in the determination 
of fair values:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Stock with no active market quotations ¥ 1,243 ¥ 1,063 $ 12,081
Trust beneficiary rights 9,082 9,113 88,240

(ⅲ) Maturity analysis for financial assets with contractual maturities
The table below presents the carrying amount of the Group’s assets by maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date:

Millions of Yen
2014

Up to 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-7 years 7-10 years Over 10 years
Due from banks ¥ 373,869      
Monetary claims
bought ¥ 5,753 ¥ 2,040 ¥ 4,232 

Securities:
Available-for-sale
securities:
Government
bonds ¥ 11,000 16,000 

Corporate bonds 2,000 2,000 ¥ 3,000 28,731 
Other 15,000 68,000 8,000 1,000 

Total 17,000 79,000 18,000 11,000 29,731 
Loans and bills
discounted(*1)(*2) 401,860 240,214 100,147 56,020 72,897 365,192 

Installment sales
receivables(*1) 731,834 127,072 35,141 39,574 3,089 2,756 

Total ¥ 1,524,563  ¥ 446,286  ¥ 159,041  ¥ 97,634  ¥ 86,986  ¥ 401,911 

Millions of Yen
2013

Up to 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years Over 5 years
Cash and
cash equivalents ¥ 499,475

Call loans 10,000
Finance

receivables(*1) 691,783 ¥ 129,602 ¥ 44,571 ¥ 17,357 ¥ 6,802 ¥ 9,737

Loans and bills
discounted in
banking business(*2)

59,226 37,084 34,341 33,976 34,521 492,919

Securities in
banking business:

  Securities 32,500 24,500 18,000 50,000 2,000 57,276
  Monetary
   claims bought 1,920 3,434 753 12,472

    Total securities
     in banking
     business

¥ 34,420 ¥ 24,500 ¥ 18,000 ¥ 53,434 ¥ 2,753 ¥ 69,748

Total ¥ 1,294,904 ¥ 191,186 ¥ 96,912 ¥ 104,767 ¥ 44,076 ¥ 572,404
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Up to 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-7 years 7-10 years Over 10 years
Due from banks $ 3,632,618      
Monetary claims
bought $ 55,898 $ 19,821 $ 41,121 

Securities:
Available-for-sale
securities:
Government
bonds $ 106,879 155,460 

Corporate bonds 19,433 19,433 $ 29,149 279,159 
Other 145,744 660,707 77,730 9,716 

Total 165,177 767,586 174,893 106,879 288,875 
Loans and bills
discounted(*1)(*2) 3,904,588 2,333,986 973,060 544,306 708,291 3,548,305 

Installment sales
receivables(*1) 7,110,705 1,234,670 341,439 384,514 30,016 26,779 

Total $ 14,813,088  $ 4,336,242  $ 1,545,290  $ 948,641  $ 845,186  $ 3,905,080 
(*1) Loans and bills discounted and installment sales receivables for the year ended March 31, 2014 and finance receivables for the year 

ended March 31, 2013 exclude ¥30,232 million ($293,738 thousand) and ¥28,659 million, which have no specific contractual maturity 
date due to late payments or being under negotiations, respectively.

(*2) Loans and bills discounted for the year ended March 31, 2014 and loans and bills discounted in banking business for the year ended 
March 31, 2013 exclude the loans of ¥4,570 million ($44,407 thousand) and ¥3,903 million with no specific recoverable amounts, 
such as loans to borrowers classified as legal bankruptcy, substantial bankruptcy, or possible bankruptcy, and ¥11,555 million 
($112,271 thousand) and ¥8,740 million, which have no fixed maturity, respectively.

(ⅳ) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities with contractual maturities
The table below presents the carrying amount of financial liabilities by the relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date:

Millions of Yen
2014

Up to 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-7 years 7-10 years Over 10 years
Deposits(*) ¥ 1,202,454 ¥ 398,361 ¥ 110,950 ¥ 1,980   
Borrowed money 216,798 196,348 90,741 11,341 
Bonds 25,587 26,021 10,000 ¥ 40,000 
Convertible bonds 2,830 
Lease obligations 2,521 4,191 3,031 2,388 ¥ 476 
Total ¥ 1,421,773  ¥ 627,317  ¥ 230,743  ¥ 25,709  ¥ 476  ¥ 40,000 

Millions of Yen
2013

Up to 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years Over 5 years
Deposits in banking 
business(*) ¥ 687,926 ¥ 196,535 ¥ 243,124 ¥ 33,539 ¥ 41,420 ¥ 4,409

Long-term debt 131,014 91,846 117,113 92,296 43,380 11,225
Total ¥ 818,940 ¥ 288,381 ¥ 360,237 ¥ 125,835 ¥ 84,800 ¥ 15,634

Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Up to 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-7 years 7-10 years Over 10 years
Deposits(*) $ 11,683,380 $ 3,870,586 $ 1,078,028 $ 19,237   
Borrowed money 2,106,471 1,907,768 881,663 110,196 
Bonds 248,615 252,827 97,163 $ 388,651 
Convertible bonds 27,497 
Lease obligation 24,498 40,720 29,447 23,208 $ 4,624 
Total $ 13,814,349  $ 6,095,186  $ 2,241,965  $ 249,804  $ 4,624  $ 388,651 

(*) The cash flow of demand deposits is included in the “Up to 1 year” group.

17. DERIVATIVES

The Group enters into forward exchange contracts and currency swap contracts to hedge foreign exchange risk on 
foreign currency-denominated debt. The Group also enters into interest rate swap contracts to limit the unfavorable 
impact from increases in interest rates on its floating-rate long-term debt. The interest rate swap contracts 
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effectively swap a floating-rate interest payment to a fixed-rate interest payment. The Group does not enter into or 
trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are subject to market risk and credit risk. Since the Group enters into derivative 
financial instruments only for hedging purposes, market risk in those hedging instruments is basically offset by 
opposite movements in the value of hedged items. The credit risk on those derivative financial instruments is 
limited as the counterparties are major financial institutions with high-credit ratings.

The basic policies for the use of derivative financial instruments are approved by the Board of Directors and 
transactions are executed and controlled by the Finance Department. Each derivative transaction is periodically 
reported to management each time evaluation and analysis are made.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of 
the following:

Millions of Yen
2014

Contract
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain/Loss

Currency swap contracts:
Receive JPY/Pay THB ¥ 44,625 ¥ (5,619) ¥ (5,619)
Receive USD/Pay HKD 5,124 (17) (17)
Receive USD/Pay MYR 7,617 43 43
Receive USD/Pay THB 71,641 2,644 2,644

Interest rate swap contracts:
Receive floating/Pay fixed 71,146 26 26

Millions of Yen
2013

Contract
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain/Loss

Currency swap contracts:
Receive JPY/Pay THB ¥ 32,638 ¥ (4,772) ¥ (4,772)
Receive USD/Pay HKD 5,636 (8) (8)
Receive USD/Pay MYR 19,524 (550) (550)
Receive USD/Pay THB 60,272 (2,322) (2,322)

Currency forward contracts:
Receive USD/Pay MYR 326 1 1

Interest rate swap contracts:
Receive floating/Pay fixed 34,547 (2,112) (2,112)

Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Contract
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain/Loss

Currency swap contracts:
Receive JPY/Pay THB $ 433,590 $ (54,597) $ (54,597)
Receive USD/Pay HKD 49,784 (167) (167)
Receive USD/Pay MYR 74,012 416 416
Receive USD/Pay THB 696,082 25,696 25,696 

Interest rate swap contracts:
Receive floating/Pay fixed 691,271 254 254 

Derivative financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of 
the following:

Millions of Yen
2014

Contract
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain/Loss

Credit default swap contracts:
Short position ¥ 3,000 ¥ (103) ¥ 1,164 
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Millions of Yen
2013

Contract
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain/Loss

Credit default swap contracts:
Short position ¥ 3,000 ¥ (894) ¥ 373

Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Contract
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain/Loss

Credit default swap contracts:
Short position $ 29,149 $ (1,005) $ 11,312 

Fair values of derivative financial instruments are based on forward market quotations and mark-to-market reports 
provided by financial institutions.

The contract or notional amounts of derivative contracts shown above do not represent the amounts exchanged 
by the parties and do not measure the Group’s exposure to credit risk or market risk.

18. LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Group provides cash advance and card loan services that supplement its credit card operations. The unexercised 
portion of loan commitments in these businesses was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Total loan limits ¥ 6,762,126 ¥ 5,855,998 $ 65,702,741 
Loan executions 391,219 292,533 3,801,200 
Unexercised portion of loan commitments ¥ 6,370,907 ¥ 5,563,465 $ 61,901,541 

The above amounts include amounts related to securitized receivables. The execution of the loan commitments 
requires an assessment on the credit status of the borrower and the usage of the fund. Therefore, not all unexercised 
portions of loan commitments will necessarily be executed.

The Group operates banking business and has entered into overdraft facility and loan commitment contracts. These 
contracts commit the Group to lend to customers up to the prescribed limits upon receipt of a customer application 
as long as there is no violation of any conditions in the contracts. The amounts of unutilized commitments as at 
March 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Unutilized commitments ¥ 11,483 ¥ 28,353 $ 111,569 

Of which: those expiring within one year 3,163 19,075 30,736 

Since many of these commitments expire without being drawn down, the unutilized amount does not necessarily 
affect future cash flows. Many of these contracts have conditions whereby the Group can refuse customer 
applications for loans or decrease the contract limits for certain reasons, such as changes in financial situation, 
protection of own credit, and other reasonable grounds. Furthermore, during the period that the contracts are 
effective, the Group performs periodic reviews of the customers’ business results based on internal rules and takes 
necessary measures to reconsider contract terms to protect own credit.
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19. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss and tax effects of other comprehensive income for the years ended 
March 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2014 2013 2014
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities:

Gains arising during the year ¥ 2,239 ¥ 3,093 $ 21,750 
Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss (355) (568) (3,447)

Amount before income tax effect 1,884 2,525 18,303 
Income tax effect 671 960 6,521 
Total ¥ 1,213 ¥ 1,565 $ 11,782 

Deferred gain (loss) on derivatives under hedge
accounting:
Gains arising during the year ¥ 473 ¥ (487) $ 4,596 
Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss (1,916) 159 (18,617)

Amount before income tax effect (1,443) (328) (14,021)
Income tax effect (305) (78) (2,965)
Total ¥ (1,138) ¥ (250) $ (11,056)

Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Gains arising during the year ¥ 3,536 ¥ 10,499 $ 34,357 

Amount before income tax effect 3,536 10,499 34,357 
Total ¥ 3,536 ¥ 10,499 $ 34,357 

Total other comprehensive income ¥ 3,611 ¥ 11,814 $ 35,083 

20. BUSINESS COMBINATION

Business combination through acquisition
The Company resolved at the meeting of its Board of Directors held on April 11, 2013 to acquire shares of Toshiba 
Finance Corporation (currently, AEON Product Finance Co., Ltd.) and as at the same date concluded the share 
assignment agreement with Toshiba Corporation and acquired the shares on May 16, 2013.
(a) Overview of business combination

(ⅰ) Name and business of acquired company
Name Toshiba Finance Corporation
Business ・Installment sales, credit guarantees and, hire purchases

・Guarantee business and loan purchases
・Collection and payment agency

(ⅱ) Major reason for business combination
The Company became a bank holding company with financial services subsidiaries on April 1, 2013. In addition 
to providing various secure, convenient and beneficial financial products and services to the customers, the 
Company aims to further expand its business operations, leveraging the strengths of each subsidiary to achieve 
synergies and develop new businesses.

Toshiba Finance Corporation was established in 1959. Since then, it expanded its operations, building its 
business on installment sales and credit guarantees in connection with sales of Toshiba home electronics and other 
products, using its operating capabilities, credit review knowhow, and nationwide sales network.

Making Toshiba Finance Corporation a consolidated subsidiary will bring its sales capabilities and specialized 
employees to the Company. In addition, the Company will nurture the newly acquired company as a key 
component of earnings alongside credit cards, banking, insurance, and e-money businesses, by expanding 
installment sales and affiliated loans with a focus on home renovation, solar energy systems, and agricultural 
equipment sales by leveraging AEON Group’s sales network, AEON Credit Service’s low-cost administration and 
processing capabilities, and AEON Bank’s fund-raising (through bank deposits) capabilities.
(ⅲ) Date of business combination
May 16, 2013
(ⅳ) Legal form of business combination
Acquisition of shares
(ⅴ) Name of company after business combination
No change

61  Aeon Financial Service 2014



40

(ⅵ) Percentage of voting rights acquired
100%
(ⅶ) Major grounds for determination of acquiring company
The fact that the Company acquired the shares for a cash consideration.

(b) Period for which financial results of acquired company were consolidated
The financial results from July 1, 2013 through March 31, 2014 were consolidated as the acquisition date was 
deemed to be June 30, 2013.

(c) Acquisition cost of acquired company and the breakdown

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Consideration for acquisition(*): Cash ¥ 5,753 $ 55,898
Costs directly attributable to the acquisition:

Advisory fees and others 89 867
Total acquisition cost ¥ 5,842 $ 56,765
(*) Reflects price adjustments specified in the share assignment agreement.

(d) Amount, cause, amortization method, and amortization period of goodwill incurred
(ⅰ) Amount of goodwill incurred
¥1,782 million ($17,313 thousand)
(ⅱ) Cause of goodwill incurred
Excess earnings power is expected to be produced by the development of the business and the effect of synergies 
in the future.
(ⅲ) Amortization method and amortization period of goodwill incurred
The goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over 10 years.

(e) Amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of business combination and the breakdown

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Total assets ¥ 317,420 $ 3,084,143 
Of which: customers’ liabilities 

for acceptances and guarantees 235,846 2,291,549 

Of which: installment sales 
receivables 73,856 717,602 

Total liabilities 313,360 3,044,691 
Of which: acceptances and 

guarantees 235,846 2,291,549 

Of which: borrowed money 56,087 544,957 
(f) Estimated amount of effect on the Company’s consolidated statement of income if the business combination 

were completed at the beginning of the current fiscal year and method of determining the effect

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Total income ¥ 1,976 $ 19,195
(Method of determining the effect)
The effect was determined by calculating the difference between total income calculated under the assumption that
the business combination was completed at the beginning of the current fiscal year and actual total income reported 
on the acquiring company’s consolidated statement of income.

However, this note is not audited.
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21. NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic and diluted EPS for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of

Shares Yen U.S. Dollar

Net Income
Weighted-

Average Shares EPS
For the year ended March 31, 2014:
Basic EPS

Net income ¥ 20,743
Net income available to common shareholders ¥ 20,743 198,272 ¥ 104.62 $ 1.02

Effect of dilutive securities
—Warrants of the Company
—Convertible bonds of the Company

33
10,188

Diluted EPS
—Net income for computation ¥ 20,743 208,493 ¥ 99.49 $ 0.97

For the year ended March 31, 2013:
Basic EPS

Net income ¥ 13,616
Net income available to common shareholders ¥ 13,616 154,520 ¥ 88.12

Effect of dilutive securities
—Warrants of the Company
—Convertible bonds of the Company

26
19,471

Diluted EPS
—Net income for computation ¥ 13,616 174,017 ¥ 78.25

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no transactions of the Company with the parent company and its subsidiaries for the year ended March 
31, 2014.

Transactions of the Company with the parent company and its subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2013, were 
as follows:

Millions of Yen
AEON Co., Ltd.(*) (the parent company) 2013
Cash deposits ¥ 4,685
Interest income 24

(*) AEON Co., Ltd. is listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, First Section.

Millions of Yen
AEON Retail Co., Ltd. (subsidiary of the parent company) 2013
Accounts payable ¥ 37,714
Credit card purchase contracts 10,878
Processing service fees 5,892

Transactions of the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries with related parties for the year ended March 31, 2014,
were as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

AEON Retail Co., Ltd. (subsidiary of the parent company) 2014 2014
Loans and bills discounted ¥ 40,600 $ 394,481
Other assets 34 335
Lending of loans 29,246 284,164
Interest income 268 2,602

There were no transactions of the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries with related parties for the year ended 
March 31, 2013.

The terms of the above transactions were set on an arm’s-length basis and in the normal course of business.
The transaction stated as “cash deposits” above are deposits of temporary excess operating cash in hand. The 
transaction amounts of “lending of loans” represent the average outstanding balance for each fiscal year. There was 
no outstanding balance as at March 31, 2013. The interest on deposits is based on a Japanese yen short-term market 
interest rate.
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Transactions with related parties for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:
Transaction amount Balance at end

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Directors and executive officers of
the Company, its subsidiaries and 
AEON Co., Ltd.

2014 2014 2014 2014

Housing loans
(Loans and bills discounted) ¥ 213 $ 2,072

Transaction 
amount Balance at end

Millions of 
Yen

Millions of 
Yen

Directors and executive officers of
the Company and AEON Co., Ltd. 2013 2013

Housing loans
(Loans and bills discounted in
banking business)

¥ 29 ¥ 115

The transaction stated as “housing loans” above are standard products provided by AEON Bank, Ltd., a 
consolidated subsidiary of the Company. Interest rate and conditions of repayment are similar to those given to 
third-party customers.

23. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Reportable segments of the Group are components of the Group for which separate financial information is 
available and such information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to 
allocate resources and in assessing performance. Generally, segment information is required to be reported on the 
same basis as is used internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to 
segments.

(a) Description of reportable segments
The Company’s reportable segments are those for which separate financial information is available and regular 
evaluation by the Board of Directors is being performed in order to decide how resources are allocated among the 
Group.

The Group conducts business activities composed of the “Credit” business dealing in credit card purchase 
contracts, loan contracts, and hire purchase contracts in the domestic markets, “Fee Business” providing services 
including e-money in the domestic market, “Banking” business dealing in banking services in the domestic markets,
and “Overseas” business dealing in credit extensions and lending in foreign markets. The Group formulates 
comprehensive strategies for each business. Accordingly, the Group has four reportable segments, “Credit,” “Fee 
Business,” “Banking,” and “Overseas.”

“Credit” consists of financial services such as credit card contracts and loan contracts with domestic customers.
“Fee Business” consists of the e-money business, the bank agency business, and the ATM business in the 

domestic market.
“Banking” consists of banking businesses, including lending and management of deposits from customers.
“Overseas” consists of financial services, including credit card contracts and loan contracts with customers in 

areas of Asia such as in Hong Kong, Thailand, and Malaysia.

(b) Methods of measurement for the amounts of ordinary income, profit (loss), assets, and other items for 
each reportable segment

The method of accounting by reportable segment is consistent with the method of accounting used for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Segment profit is adjusted to reconcile to income before taxes 
and minority interests less certain extraordinary items in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The 
intersegment income or transfers are based on the current market prices.
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(c) Information about ordinary revenue, profit (loss), assets, and other items for each reportable segment
Millions of Yen

2014
Reportable Segment

Credit Fee Business Banking Overseas Subtotal
Reconciliations

(*2) Total
Ordinary
income(*1)

Ordinary
income from
customers

¥ 130,303 ¥ 25,523 ¥ 38,693 ¥ 91,551 ¥ 286,070 ¥ 286,070 

Intersegment
income
or transfers

797 11,130 2,540 3 14,470 ¥ (14,470)

Total ordinary
income  131,100   36,653   41,233   91,554   300,540   (14,470)   286,070 

Segment 
profit(*3) ¥ 28,046  ¥ 1,172  ¥ 1,882  ¥ 16,455  ¥ 47,555  ¥ (6,463)  ¥ 41,092 

Segment assets ¥ 1,347,951 ¥ 129,771 ¥ 1,417,748 ¥ 441,444 ¥ 3,336,914 ¥ (173,797) ¥ 3,163,117 
Other items

Depreciation
and
amortization

¥ 3,377 ¥ 3,925 ¥ 1,250 ¥ 4,076 ¥ 12,628 ¥ 106 ¥ 12,734 

Amortization
of goodwill 134 713 904 28 1,779 1,779 

Interest income 39,418 1,605 16,169 51,315 108,507 (1,055) 107,452 
Interest
expenses 4,081 270 3,736 10,826 18,913 612 19,525 

Provision
for possible
credit losses

9,360 306 298 17,713 27,677 27,677 

Provision for
point program 9,680 219 496 10,395 10,395 

Increases in
tangible and
intangible
assets

¥ 10,124 ¥ 12,208 ¥ 2,886 ¥ 7,405 ¥ 32,623 ¥ 217 ¥ 32,840 

Millions of Yen
2013

Reportable Segment

Credit Fee Business Banking Overseas Subtotal
Reconciliations

(*2) Total
Operating

revenues
Operating

revenues from
customers

¥ 111,254 ¥ 24,223 ¥ 8,473 ¥ 62,022 ¥ 205,972 ¥ 205,972

Intersegment
revenues
or transfers

475 2,703 1,066 13 4,257 ¥ (4,257)

Total operating
revenues 111,729   26,926   9,539   62,035   210,229   (4,257)   205,972

Segment profit ¥ 20,636  ¥ 1,804  ¥ 1,269  ¥ 13,489  ¥ 37,198  ¥ (4,118)  ¥ 33,080
Segment assets ¥ 766,072 ¥ 75,423 ¥ 1,343,687 ¥ 323,108 ¥ 2,508,290 ¥ 25,919 ¥ 2,534,209
Other items

Depreciation
and
amortization

¥ 2,949 ¥ 3,464 ¥ 273 ¥ 3,217 ¥ 9,903 ¥ 47 ¥ 9,950

Amortization
of goodwill 319 226 12 557 557

Financial
costs 5,684 371 735 7,868 14,658 (3) 14,655

Provision
for possible
credit losses

8,028 601 962 10,922 20,513 20,513

Provision for
point program 8,061 17 618 8,696 8,696

Increases in
tangible and
intangible
assets

¥ 5,493 ¥ 5,632 ¥ 1,251 ¥ 2,273 ¥ 14,649 ¥ 130 ¥ 14,779
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Reportable Segment

Credit Fee Business Banking Overseas Subtotal
Reconciliations

(*2) Total
Ordinary
income(*1)

Ordinary
income from
customers

$ 1,266,064 $ 247,989 $ 375,953 $ 889,536 $ 2,779,542 $ 2,779,542 

Intersegment
income
or transfers

7,744 108,145 24,674 30 140,593 $ (140,593)

Total ordinary
income  1,273,808   356,134  400,627   889,566   2,920,135   (140,593)   2,779,542 

Segment 
profit(*3) $ 272,500  $ 11,393 $ 18,283  $ 159,887  $ 462,063  $ (62,800)  $ 399,263 

Segment assets $ 13,097,075  $ 1,260,896 $ 13,775,238  $ 4,289,196  $ 32,422,405  $ (1,688,656)  $ 30,733,749 
Other items

Depreciation
and
amortization

$ 32,811 $ 38,134 $ 12,141 $ 39,608 $ 122,694 $ 1,034 $ 123,728 

Amortization
of goodwill 1,299 6,933 8,780 273 17,285 17,285 

Interest income 382,995 15,591 157,106 498,596 1,054,288 (10,249) 1,044,039 
Interest
expenses 39,649 2,621 36,305 105,187 183,762 5,947 189,709 

Provision
for possible
credit losses

90,942 2,978 2,896 172,103 268,919 268,919 

Provision for
point program 94,054 2,126 4,819 100,999 100,999 

Increases in
tangible and
intangible
assets

$ 98,368 $ 118,620 $ 28,037 $ 71,945 $ 316,970 $ 2,109 $ 319,079 

(*1) For the segment revenue, the Group uses ordinary income instead of sales that are used by normal commercial companies. Ordinary 
income represents total income less certain extraordinary income included in “Other income” in the consolidated statements of income.

(*2) ¥(6,463) million ($(62,800) thousand) of reconciliations to segment profit for the year ended March 31, 2014 and ¥(4,118) million of 
reconciliations to segment profit for the year ended March 31, 2013 represent the corporate expenses unallocated to any reportable 
segment. The corporate expenses are mainly comprised of general and administrative expenses unattributable to any reportable segment.
In addition, ¥(173,797) million ($(1,688,656) thousand) of reconciliations to segment assets for the year ended March 31, 2014 and 
¥25,919 million of reconciliations to segment assets for the year ended March 31, 2013 represent the corporate assets unallocated to any 
reportable segment and the eliminations of intersegment transactions.

(*3) Segment profit is adjusted to reconcile to income before taxes and minority interests less certain extraordinary items in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Changes in reportable segments
The Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 in 
accordance with the Ordinance for the Enforcement of the Banking Act (Ordinance of the Ministry of Finance No. 
10 of 1982) which prescribes classifications of assets and liabilities and revenues and expenses. Accordingly, the 
basis of measurement for the reportable segment profit has changed from operating income, which was used in the
past, to income before taxes and minority interests.

However, the segment information for the previous fiscal year based on income before taxes and minority 
interests is not disclosed. This is because it is impracticable to determine prior year information of the Company and 
its consolidated subsidiaries required to prepare segment information based on income before taxes and minority 
interests.
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(d) Information about geographic areas

For the year ended March 31, 2014

(ⅰ) Ordinary income(*1)(*2)

Millions of Yen
2014

Japan Thailand Other Total
¥    193,023 ¥     51,060 ¥     41,987 ¥    286,070

Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Japan Thailand Other Total
$   1,875,470 $    496,117 $    407,955 $   2,779,542

(*1) For the segment revenue, the Group uses ordinary income instead of sales that are used by normal commercial companies.
(*2) Ordinary income is classified by country or region based on the customers’ location.

(ⅱ) Property and equipment
Millions of Yen

2014
Japan Thailand Other Total

¥     21,318 ¥      8,386 ¥      1,482 ¥     31,186

Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Japan Thailand Other Total
$    207,131 $     81,483 $     14,394 $    303,008

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(ⅰ) Operating revenues
Millions of Yen

2013
Japan Thailand Other Total

¥    144,285 ¥      33,952 ¥     27,735 ¥    205,972

(ⅱ) Property and equipment
Millions of Yen

2013
Japan Thailand Other Total

¥     12,829 ¥       5,979 ¥      1,253 ¥     20,061   
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(e) Information about goodwill and negative goodwill by reportable segment

Millions of Yen
2014

Credit Fee Business Banking Overseas Total
Goodwill at March 31, 2014(*1) ¥    1,648  ¥   11,116  ¥    16,039  ¥       85  ¥     28,888

Millions of Yen
2013

Credit Fee Business Banking Overseas Total
Goodwill at March 31, 2013(*1) ¥ 11,830 ¥    16,943 ¥     112 ¥    28,885

Thousands of U.S. Dollars
2014

Credit Fee Business Banking Overseas Total
Goodwill at March 31, 2014(*1) $   16,014  $ 108,006  $   155,840  $      820  $    280,680
(*1) Disclosure of amortization of goodwill is omitted because similar information is disclosed in “(c) Information about ordinary revenue, 

profit (loss), assets, and other items for each reportable segment.”

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a) Appropriations of Retained Earnings
The following appropriation of retained earnings as at March 31, 2014, was approved at the Company’s Board of 
Directors’ meeting held on May 15, 2014:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Year-end cash dividends, ¥35.00 ($0.34) per share ¥ 7,225 $ 70,200

(b) Purchase of Treasury Stock
The Board of Directors of the Company resolved at the meeting held on February 20, 2014, to purchase the 
Company’s treasury stock pursuant to the provisions of the articles of incorporation in accordance with Article 459, 
Paragraph 1, Item 1 of the Companies Act.
(ⅰ) Reason for purchase

To ensure flexible capital policies corresponding to future changes in business environment and to distribute 
profits to shareholders.

(ⅱ) Purchase methods
Purchase through ToSTNeT-3 Off-Auction Trading Transaction and open market purchases at the Tokyo 
Stock Exchange

(ⅲ) Results of purchase
Purchase through ToSTNeT-3

Off-Auction Trading Transaction
Market purchases on the Tokyo Stock 

Exchange
(1) Type of shares purchased Common stock Common stock
(2) Total number of shares 

purchased 4,500,000 shares 5,196,300 shares

(3) Total purchase price ¥11,790 million ($114,555 thousand) ¥13,210 million
($128,351 thousand)

(4) Purchase period May 16, 2014 From May 19, 2014
to July 16, 2014

As at July 16, 2014, the Company completed this purchase, because the total purchase price reached the purchase 
ceiling resolved at the meeting of the Board of Directors held on February 20, 2014.
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Corporate Data  (As of September 2014)

Company Name	 AEON Financial Service Co., Ltd.
Head Office	 Kanda Mitoshiro-cho 1, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-8445, Japan
Tel	  	 +81-3-5281-2080
URL		  http://www.aeonfinancial.co.jp/eng/
Established	 June 20, 1981
Capital Stock	 ¥30,301 million
Number of Employees	 54/12,220 (Consolidated) (As of March 2014)
Domestic Subsidiaries	 AEON CREDIT SERVICE Co., Ltd. 
		  AEON BANK, LTD. 
		  AEON INSURANCE SERVICE CO., LTD. 
		  AEON HOUSING LOAN SERVICE CO., LTD.
		  A·C·S CREDIT MANAGEMENT CO., LTD. 
		  AEON S.S. Insurance CO., LTD. 
		  AEON Product Finance CO., LTD. 
Overseas Subsidiaries	
	 Hong Kong	 AEON Financial Service (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
		  AEON CREDIT SERVICE (ASIA) CO., LTD.
		  AEON INSURANCE BROKERS (HK) LIMITED

	 China	 AEON INFORMATION SERVICE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.
		  AEON MICRO FINANCE (SHENYANG) CO., LTD.
		  AEON CREDIT GUARANTEE (CHINA) CO., LTD.
		  AEON MICRO FINANCE (TIANJIN) CO., LTD.
		  AEON MICRO FINANCE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.

	 Thailand	 AEON THANA SINSAP (THAILAND) PLC.
		  ACS CAPITAL CORPORATION LTD.
		  ACS SERVICING (THAILAND) CO., LTD.
		  AEON Insurance Service (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

	 Malaysia	 AEON CREDIT SERVICE (M) BERHAD

	 Taiwan	 AEON CREDIT SERVICE (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.
		  AEON CREDIT CARD (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.

	 Indonesia	 PT. AEON CREDIT SERVICE INDONESIA

	 Vietnam	 ACS TRADING VIETNAM CO., LTD.

	 Philippines	 AEON CREDIT SERVICE SYSTEMS (PHILIPPINES) INC.
		  AEON CREDIT SERVICE (PHILIPPINES) INC. 

	 Cambodia	 AEON MICROFINANCE (CAMBODIA) PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED

	 India	 AEON CREDIT SERVICE INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED

	 Lao	 AEON LEASING SERVICE (LAO) COMPANY LIMITED

	 Myanmar	 AEON MICROFINANCE (MYANMAR) CO., LTD.

Shareholder Information  (As of September 2014)

Closing Date	 March 31
Stock Exchange Listing	 Tokyo Stock Exchange, First Section
	  	 (Securities Code: 8570)
Transfer Agent	 Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd.
Shares Issued	 208,327,973 shares
Shareholders’ Meeting	 Held in June of each year
Independent Auditors	 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC 

Aeon Financial Service 2014  70



Æ
O

N
 Financial Service C

o
., Ltd

.	
A

nnual R
ep

o
rt 2014


